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Polarean Imaging Plc
("Polarean" or the "Company")

 
Final results for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notice of Annual General Meeting
 

Polarean I maging plc (AI M: P O LX ), the medical  imaging company announces  i ts  audited final  results  for the year ended 31
December 2022.
 
In addition, Polarean confirms that the Annual  Report and Accounts  for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Notice of the
Annual  General  Mee,ng ("AGM") and a Form of P roxy are now avai lable on the Company's  website (http://www.polarean-
ir.com/content/investors/annual-reports .asp) and wi l l  be posted to shareholders  shortly.
 
The AGM wi l l  be held at 2500 Meridian Parkway, Suite 175, Durham, NC 27713, USA at 2 p.m. BST / 9 a.m. EST on 28 June
2023.
 
Highlights

-     United States  Food and Drug Administra,on ("F DA") approval  received for the Company's  drug device combina,on
product, X ENOVI EW  (xenon Xe 129 hyperpolarised), a  hyperpolarised contrast agent indicated for use with
magne,c resonance imaging ("M R I ") for evalua,on of lung ven,la,on in adults  and pediatric pa,ents  aged 12
years  and older

-     S imultaneously with the approval  of the X ENOVI EW  NDA, two 510(k) devices  were cleared by the F DA; XENOVIEW
VDP is  image process ing software that analyses  a  pulmonary hyperpolarised 129-Xe MR image and a proton chest
MR image to provide visual isation and evaluation of lung venti lation and the Polarean XENOVIEW 3.0T Chest Coi l

-     Research system placements  at McMaster Univers i ty in O ntario, Canada and C incinna, Chi ldren's  Hospital
Medical  Center ("CCHMC")

-     Appointment of Frank Schulkes , Dan Brague and Marcel la  Ruddy, M D to the Board as  independent Non-Execu,ve
Directors

-     Appointment of Ken West as  Non-Executive Chairman, fol lowing the reti rement of Jonathan Al l i s
-     Research col laboration with Oxford Univers i ty Hospitals  NHS Trust for long-COVID
-     Net cash of US$16.4 mi l l ion as  of 31 December 2022
 

Post-period end
-     F i rst order for a  X ENOVI EW  gas  blend cyl inder for the produc,on of X ENOVI EW  received from C C H M C,

representing key mi lestone and execution of commercial  plan
-     F i rst cl inical  scan u,l is ing X ENOVI EW  technology in the United States  conducted at C C H M C, marking key

mi lestone for imaging of lung venti lation
-     Selected as  one of the featured companies  as  a  poster presenter at the American Thoracic Society's  ("ATS") 2023

Respiratory Innovation Summit
 
Richard Hullihen, C EO  of Polarean, said: "We ended the year with a tremendous posi�ve in receiving our F DA  approval for
X ENOVIEW. This was a long road culmina�ng with the decision we were looking for, and an extraordinary amount of work
went into this process from the en�re team. We have now begun to roll out X ENOVIEW  for clinical use and expect to see further
hospitals adopt doing clinical X ENOVIEW  scans in the coming months. We also con�nue to explore poten�al future
applica�ons for our technology and remain posi�ve for the year ahead. Separately, we have been shortlisted for Breakthrough
of the Year and Best Technology at the 2023 European Mediscience A wards, which celebrates private and listed healthcare,
biotech and life sciences companies; we are delighted by this valida�on of our technology and our achievement in securing F DA
approval, and are excited to see the outcome.

"O n behalf of the Board and the whole Polarean team, I would like to extend my thanks to our shareholders for all their
support and we look forward to further updating the market in due course." 
 
This announcement contains inside information for the purposes of Article 7 of Regulation (EU) 596/2014.
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About Polarean (www.polarean.com)
The Company and i ts  whol ly owned subs idiary, Polarean, I nc. (together the "Group") are revenue-genera,ng, medical
imaging technology companies  opera,ng in the high-resolu,on medical  imaging space. Polarean aspires  to revolu,onise
pulmonary medicine by bringing the power and safety of M R I  to the respiratory healthcare community in need of new
solu,ons to evaluate lung ven,la,on, diagnose disease, characterise disease progress ion, and monitor response to
treatment. By researching, developing, and commercial is ing novel  imaging solu,ons with a  non-invas ive and radia,on-
free func,onal  imaging plaIorm. Polarean's  vis ion is  to help address  the global  unmet medical  needs  of more than 500
mil l ion pa,ents  worldwide suffering with chronic respiratory disease. Polarean is  a  leader in the field of
hyperpolarisa,on science and has  successful ly developed the first and only hyperpolarised M R I  contrast agent to be
approved in the United States . O n Dec. 23, 2022, the F DA granted approval  for Polarean's  first drug device combina,on
product, X ENOVI EWTM (Xenon Xe129 hyperpolarised). Xe129 M R I  i s  a lso currently being studied for visual isa,on and
quan,fica,on of gas  exchange regional ly in the smal lest a i rways  of the lungs, across  the alveolar ,ssue membrane, and
into the pulmonary bloodstream for future cl inical  indications.
 
XENOVIEW IMPORTANT SAFETY INFORMATION
Warnings and Precautions
Risk of Decreased I mage Q ual i ty from Supplemental  Oxygen: Supplemental  oxygen administered s imultaneously with
XENOVIEWTM inhala,on can cause degrada,on of image qual i ty. For pa,ents  on supplemental  oxygen, withhold oxygen
inhala,on for two breaths  prior to X ENOVI EWTM inhala,on, and resume oxygen inhala,on immediately fol lowing the
imaging breath hold.
 
Risk of Trans ient Hypoxia: Inhalation of an anoxic gas  such as  XENOVIEWTM may cause trans ient hypoxemia in suscep,ble
patients . Monitor a l l  patients  for oxygen desaturation and symptoms of hypoxemia and treat as  cl inical ly indicated.
 
Adverse Reactions
Adverse Reac,ons in Adult Pa,ents: The adverse reac,ons (> one pa,ent) in efficacy tria ls  were oropharyngeal  pain,
headache, and dizziness .  Adverse Reac,ons in Pediatric and Adolescent Pa,ents: I n publ ished l i terature in pediatric
pa,ents  aged 6 to 18, trans ient adverse reac,ons were reported: blood oxygen desatura,on, heart rate eleva,on,
numbness, ,ngl ing, dizziness , and euphoria. I n at least one publ ished study of pediatric pa,ents  aged 6 to 18 years ,
trans ient decrease in SpO 2% and trans ient increase in heart rate was  reported fol lowing hyperpolarized xenon Xe 129
administration. XENOVIEWTM i s  not approved for use in pediatric patients  less  than 12 years  of age.
 
Please see full prescribing information at www.xenoview.net

 
Chairman's Statement
 
I  am pleased to be able to write this  leQer with the very important mi lestone of United States  Food & Drug Administra,on
("F DA") approval  of the Company's  drug device combina,on product, X ENOVI EW, having been accompl ished. The broad
label  of "evalua,on of lung ven,la,on in adults  and pediatric pa,ents  aged 12 years  and older" a l lows the company to
execute i ts  commercial  s trategy of sel l ing i ts  polarizer and approved gas  for cl inical  scans  of pa,ents  suffering from a
number of lung diseases  where the accurate measurement of lung ven,la,on provides  the phys ician with ac,onable
diagnos,c informa,on. I n addi,on, researchers  us ing Polarean's  technology con,nue to conduct cl inical  research that
supports  the broad future poten,al  appl ica,ons of our technology in areas  of gas  exchange and cardiopulmonary
diagnos,cs. We are exci ted to bring Polarean's  technology to cl inical  medicine, with the poten,al  to be an important part
of pulmonary and cardiopulmonary diagnostics , monitoring of severi ty of disease and patient response to treatments .
 
During 2022, we strengthened our Board with the addi,on of three independent Non-Execu,ve Board members  who bring
extens ive industry and medical  experience to the Board to ass ist the company's  successful  trans i,on into the
commercial iza,on stage. Frank Schulkes  brings  substan,al  financing experience in the medical  imaging industry and Dan
Brague brings  experience successful ly commercial izing diagnos,c imaging products . I n addi,on, Dr. Marcel la  Ruddy
brings  important pulmonary medical  exper,se, both in cl inical  prac,ce and in pharmaceu,cal  development. W ith these
addi,ons to our Board, we bel ieve that we have a world-class  Board that can lead the company to successful
commercial ization of Xenoview.
 
Having achieved F DA approval , our efforts  are now focused on gaining commercial  trac,on and engaging with poten,al
corporate partners  to further accelerate our commercial  success . O nce we have achieved some of these near-term
milestones, we wi l l  explore the op,ons for addi,onal  financing to more aggress ively pursue the development of the next
indica,ons and advance the con,nued development of our polarizer system and soSware. The Company is  exploring a
broad range of options  for future financing, including equity ra ises  and corporate partnering.
 
O n behalf of the Board, I  want to thank our employees, stakeholders  and shareholders  and assure them that we are
committed to making Xenoview a commercial  and financial  success .
 
Kenneth West
 
Non-Executive Chairman
25 May 2023

http://www.xenoview.net


 
Chief Executive Officer's Statement
 
2022 - Year of Obtaining FDA Approval
We spent much of 2022 working on obtaining F DA approval  of our New Drug Appl ica,on ("NDA") for X ENOVI EW  and
were please received our approval  on 23 December 2022. ASer receiving a  Complete Response LeQer ("C R L") from the
FDA in October 2021, we spend the subsequent s ix months  address ing the issues  raised in the CRL. On 30 March 2022,
the Company refiled the NDA with the F DA. The resubmiss ion addressed the i tems iden,fied in the C R L. O n 22
September the Company announced that the F DA had requested addi,onal  informa,on related to the cGM P  (Current
Good Manufacturing P rac,ce) pre-approval  inspec,on at the partner's  produc,on faci l i ty. The Company and i ts
partner addressed the F DA's  request and the Company received F DA approval  on 23 December 2022. We were very
pleased to receive the broad label  of evalua,on of lung func,on in adults  and pediatric pa,ents  twelve and older. I n
addi,on, the F DA indicated that they would al low us  to submit a  non-cl inical  plan to obtain approval  in pediatric
pa,ents  s ix and older. The F DA has  granted New Chemical  En,ty ("NC E") des igna,on for Xenoview. NC E des igna,on
provides  the important fi rst mover protection envis ioned under the Hatch Waxman legis lation.
 
Commercialization
W ith F DA approval , the Company is  focused on successful  commercial iza,on of X ENOVI EW  for the evalua,on of lung
func,on. The Company has  an enthus ias,c base of US ins,tu,ons who have been us ing our technology for research
purposes  for years . We are leveraging this  knowledge and enthus iasm by conver,ng i ts  US research s i tes  to F DA
approved configura,on and cl inical  use, which wi l l  a l low these s i tes  to purchase Xenoview and perform cl inical
scans. I n paral lel , we are pursuing various  reimbursement codes  that could enable the hospitals  to be reimbursed for
Xenoview, the polariza,on process , the M R I  procedure and the analys is  of the pulmonary func,on imaging. I f
obtained, we bel ieve that this  reimbursement would enable a  very compel l ing return on investment for hospitals  to
purchase our polarizer systems. We are aggress ively pursuing our early commercial iza,on targets  of the sale of 15 to
20 polariser systems and 75 to 100 cyl inders  of Xenoview by the end of 2024.
 
We are focus ing ini,al ly on address ing the high end of the US academic and teaching hospital  market segment, which
comprises  approximately the top 1000 ins,tu,ons na,onal ly having coincident mul,ple Centres  of Excel lence in
P ulmonary Medicine and Radiology. We bel ieve our strategy of sel l ing the capital  equipment and the Xenoview drug
on a per cyl inder bas is  could provide a capital  equipment and recurring drug sales  model  that supports  rapidly
growing revenue.
 
Financials
Sales  for 2022 were below our original  expecta,ons, as  we did not receive F DA approval  in O ctober 2022 as
an,cipated in the plan. We adjusted our spending plans  commensurate with the delayed approval , which al lowed us
to finish 2022 with a  higher than an,cipated cash balance of US$16.4 mi l l ion. We con,nued to sel l  our polariser
systems into the research market and completed two instal la,ons during 2022. The current cash balance is  expected
to fund the company into late Q2-2024.
 
Corporate Partnering
We con,nue to bel ieve that corporate partnering could be an important part of the Company's  bus iness  plan. We see
the opportunity to help the pharmaceu,cal  industry reduce by s ignificant amounts  the s ize, ,me required to conduct
and costs  of their pulmonary drug cl inical  tria ls  by providing quan,ta,ve, reproducible image-based data. We also
see the opportunity to partner with M R I  manufacturers  to open up the M R I  appl ica,ons space to include pulmonary
diagnos,cs, driving the demand for more M R I  systems. I n addi,on, we wi l l  explore the opportunity to partner with
pulmonary disease organiza,ons and founda,ons to incorporate the use of Xenoview in the diagnosis  and treatment
of disease.
 
Future Indications
Researchers  are currently conduc,ng cl inical  tria ls  and pharmaceu,cal  company sponsored inves,ga,ons in
mul,ple areas  of pulmonary disease us ing our technology. These studies  are highl igh,ng the exci,ng opportuni,es
in the areas  of long COVI D and cardiopulmonary vascular disease. We bel ieve that these areas  could greatly expand
the total  addressable markets  and use of the Company's  technology in the future.
 
2023 and Beyond
As discussed above, we are focused on achieving early commercial  trac,on with our broad lung func,on evalua,on
label  granted by the F DA in late 2022. I n paral lel , we are exploring a  variety of partnering opportuni,es. O nce we
have achieved some of these near-term mi lestones, we wi l l  explore the appropriate timing and structure to finance the
con,nued commercial  efforts , cl inical  tria ls  to seek approval  for the high-value gas  exchange and pulmonary
vascular disease indications  and continue to improve our polariser system and imaging software.
 
This  important mi lestone of F DA approval  would not have been poss ible without the dedicated team of employees,
consultants  and advisers  working to bring our much needed technology to cl inicians, their pa,ents  and the
insti tutions  enabl ing their care. I  thank everyone for their hard work in accompl ishing this  s igni ficant achievement.
 
Richard Hullihen

Chief Executive Officer
25 May 2023
 



Strategic Report
 
1.    Introduction 
 
The Group comprises  medical  drug-device combina,on companies  opera,ng in the high-resolu,on medical  imaging market.
The Group develops  equipment that enables  exis,ng M R I  systems to achieve an improved level  of pulmonary func,onal
imaging and special ises  in the use of polarised xenon gas  (129Xe ) as  an imaging agent to visual ise venti lation (the abi l i ty of
air to reach the alveol i ) and gas  exchange (the abi l i ty of oxygen to diffuse through the alveolar membrane into the
pulmonary vasculature) regional ly down to the smal lest a i rways  of the lungs, the ,ssue barrier between the lung and the
bloodstream and in the pulmonary vasculature; and now also microvascular haemodynamics  within the lung, a  novel
diagnos,c approach. The Group wi l l  a lso register and sel l  the high-performance M R I  radiofrequency (R F) coi ls  which are a
required component for imaging 129Xe in the M R I  system. P roviding access  to these coi ls  faci l i tates  the adop,on of the
Xenon technology by providing appl ication-speci fic RF coi ls  which optimise the imaging of 129Xe in MRI equipment.
 
The Group was formed on 31 May 2017 when the Company acquired Polarean, I nc (the "Subsidiary"). The Subs idiary was
formed as  a  result of two mergers : the first between Polarean Merger-Sub I nc. and m2m, a company that the Subs idiary had
developed a rela,onship with during the course of previous  research and commercial isa,on programmes in the US and the
second between m2m and the Subs idiary. m2m was previous ly a  portfol io company of Amphion Innovations  plc ("Amphion"),
a  developer of medical , l i fe science, and technology bus inesses , which is  i tsel f currently l i s ted on AIM.
 
Investment Case
 
P ulmonary disease currently affects  hundreds  of mi l l ions  of people global ly, including approximately 174 mi l l ion people
who suffer from Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease ("COPD"), which is  responsible for approximately 6% of such deaths
global ly each year. I n the US more than 30 mi l l ion people suffer from a chronic lung disease such as  CO P D, which includes
emphysema, chronic bronchi,s  and asthma. I n addi,on to i ts  s ignificant human tol l , pulmonary disease also represents  an
economic burden in excess  of US$150 bi l l ion annual ly in the US alone.
 
Every type of pulmonary disease involves  some combina,on of ven,la,on and/or gas  exchange impairment, yet the
successful  and cost-effec,ve treatment of lung disease is  hampered by sub-op,mal  methods for quan,fying pulmonary
ven,la,on and gas  exchange. Current diagnos,c techniques  are ei ther imprecise (such as  spirometry) and/or expose the
pa,ent to poten,al ly dangerous  radia,on (such as  x-rays , C T scans  and nuclear scin,graphy). W hi le spirometry has
benefits  as  a  screening tool , none of these current methods can visual ise ven,la,on or gas  exchange regional ly in the
smal lest a i rways, where lung disease typical ly begins  and where improvements  from new pharmaceu,cal  therapies  can first
be detected.
 
As  such, the Group operates  in an area of s ignificant unmet medical  need and is  pursuing approval  by the US Food & Drug
Administra,on ("F DA") for the Group's  drug-device combina,on product us ing hyperpolarised xenon-129 gas  to enhance
M R I  in pulmonary medicine. The Company submiQed a new drug appl ica,on ("NDA") to the F DA on 5 O ctober 2020 aSer the
successful  comple,on of the F DA P hase I I I  cl inical  tria ls  in the US for the Group's  technology. The 80-pa,ent equivalence
cl inical  tria ls  were conducted at Duke Univers i ty Medical  Center, the Univers i ty of Virginia  and The Univers i ty of C incinna, -
three leading US research hospitals . Enrolment of the cl inical  tria ls  was  completed in November 2019. I n January 2020, the
Company announced that both cl inical  tria ls  met their primary endpoints , within the prospec,vely defined equivalence
margin (+/-14.7%) when compared to the F DA-approved reference standard, 133Xenon scin,graphy imaging. O n 5 O ctober
2021, the Company received a Complete Response LeQer ("C R L") from the F DA reques,ng that the Company to address
approvabi l i ty i ssues  iden,fied by the F DA ahead of NDA resubmiss ion. O n 30 March 2022, the Company filed the
resubmiss ion of the NDA with the F DA. O n 20 Apri l  2022, the Company announced that the F DA had accepted the
resubmiss ion of the NDA and establ ished a user fee goal  date of 30 September 2022. O n 30 September 2022, the Company
announced that the F DA had granted the Company a 90 day extens ion to the NDA review ,mel ine. O n 28 December 2022, the
Company announced that the F DA had granted approval  for i ts  drug device combina,on product, X ENOVI EW. X ENOVI EW,
prepared from the Xenon Xe 129 Gas  Blend, i s  a  hyperpolarised contrast agent indicated for use with magne,c resonance
imaging ("M R I ") for evalua,on of lung ven,la,on in adults  and pediatric pa,ents  aged 12 years  and older. O n 28 December
2022, the Company also announced that, s imultaneously with the approval  of the X ENOVI EW  NDA, two 510(k) devices  were
cleared by the F DA that wi l l  further support a  successful  launch of the technology into the cl inical  marketplace: X ENOVI EW
VD P  soSware and the X ENOVI EW  3.0T Chest Coi l . X ENOVI EW  VD P  is  image process ing soSware that analyzes  a  pulmonary
hyperpolarised 129-Xe M R image and a proton chest M R image to provide visual iza,on and evalua,on of lung ven,la,on in
adults  and pediatric pa,ents  aged 12 years  and older. This  image analys is  plaIorm quan,fies normal ized xenon intens ity
of a  ven,lated space us ing a  pulmonary hyperpolarised 129-Xe ven,la,on M R image and accompanying proton chest M R
image. The soSware wi l l  be used by cl inicians  to ass ist in the interpreta,on and numerical  class ifica,on of hyperpolarized
129-Xe ven,la,on M R images. The Polarean X ENOVI EW  3.0T Chest Coi l  i s  a  flexible, s ingle channel , transmit-receive (T/R) R F
coi l  tuned to 129Xe frequency on a 3.0T M R I  magne,c field of a  compa,ble M R I  scanner. The Polarean X ENOVI EW  3.0T Chest
Coi l  i s  indicated to be used in conjunc,on with compa,ble 3.0T M R I  scanners  and approved xenon Xe 129 hyperpolarised
for oral  inhala,on for evalua,on of lung ven,la,on in adults  and pediatric pa,ents  aged 12 years  and older. The Chest Coi l
i s  intended to be worn by a  pa,ent who inhales  hyperpolarised 129Xe gas  (X ENOVI EW ) to obtain an M R image of the
regional  distribution of hyperpolarised 129Xe in the lungs.
 
The Group's  technology overcomes important l imita,ons of current lung diagnos,c methods, providing the abi l i ty to
visual ise, quan,fy and monitor both the structure and func,on of the smal lest a i rways  and alveolar spaces  with enhanced
sensi,vity and without harmful  radia,on. This  provides  a  unique, valuable and more precise tool  to help diagnose disease
earl ier, iden,fy the type of interven,on l ikely to benefit a  pa,ent, monitor the efficacy of treatment and faci l i tate developing
new therapies  for pulmonary diseases.

 
Group Structure and History
 
The Company was incorporated in England and Wales  on 24 October 2016 with company registration number 10442853. The
Company's  registered office is  27-28 Eastcastle Street, London, W1W 8DH.
 
On 31 May 2017, m2m, a  company formed in the US State of Delaware on 18 February 1999, was  merged into the Company.
 
On 29 March 2018, the Company's  shares  were admitted to trading on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.
 
Information on Polarean, m2m and Strategy of Group

4.1 Polarean, Inc. - Background



4.1 Polarean, Inc. - Background

The Subsidiary was  co-founded by Dr Bas,aan Driehuys, a  current Director of the Company, and John Sudol , a  former
director of the Subs idiary, in 2011. P rior to co-founding the Subs idiary, Dr Driehuys  was  a  member of a  research team at
P rinceton Univers i ty in the early 1990s  which was amongst the first research teams to focus  on hyperpolarised gas  M R I
technology; in par,cular i sotopical ly enriched hel ium (3He). The team developed and held key patents  rela,ng to the
technology. The technology was acquired in 1999 by Amersham, I nc. ("Amersham"), with the goal  of commercial is ing
hyperpolarised hel ium products  to be marketed and distributed alongs ide Amersham's  ful l  l ine of contrast agent products .
Dr Driehuys  led the development efforts  for Amersham, which con,nued the development of these hyperpolarised hel ium
products  throughout the early 2000s  unti l  GE Healthcare ("GE") acquired Amersham in 2004.
 
GE continued the research and development of hyperpolarised gas  MRI after the acquis i tion of Amersham, focus ing on 129Xe
as  a  more effec,ve subs,tute for 3 He in visual is ing ven,la,on. GE also began to explore ways  in which 129Xe could be
used to image gas  exchange within the lung in addi,on to ven,la,on. These work programmes culminated in the conduct of
a P hase I /I I  cl inical  tria l  at Duke Univers i ty in 2008-2009. GE also filed I nves,ga,onal  New Drug Appl ica,ons ('I NDs") with
the F DA for both 3He and 129Xe. By 2010, aSer an investment of approximately US$40 mi l l ion in the technology and with the
regulatory path for hyperpolarised gas  remaining unclear, GE decided to out-l icense the hyperpolarised gas  technology and
the related patent fami l ies  that i t had developed and/or maintained to the Subs idiary, due to the scale at the ,me and the
early-stage nature of the technology's  development.
 
I n December 2011, the Subs idiary nego,ated the acquis i,on of a l l  of GE's  assets  related to the hyperpolarised M R I  project,
including an inventory of polarisers  and parts  and the l icenses  (or outright ownership) of the related patent fami l ies .
 
Fol lowing the acquis i tion of GE's  hyperpolarisation assets , the Subs idiary focused on three key objectives:
 

·    bui lding and sel l ing polarisers  to research users  to generate opera,ng revenue and to disseminate the technology to
academic research insti tutions  that generate cl inical  data in order to bui ld additional  interest in the technology;

·    further developing the xenon hyperpolarisa,on technology in order to meet cl inical  use specifica,on requirements;
and

·    l ia is ing with the F DA in order to clari fy the F DA regulatory path under which the product could achieve clearance to
market for cl inical  use.

 
I n July 2012, the US Congress  passed the F DA Safety and I nnova,on Act and the Medical  Gas  Act, which clarified and
simpl i fied the path under which hyperpolarised gas  MRI technology could be approved for cl inical  use by the FDA.
 
As  a  result of discuss ions  between the Group and the F DA, the Directors  bel ieved that a  clearer path towards  regulatory
approval  existed. As  such, fol lowing l i s,ng our shares  on the AI M market the Group began conduc,ng the cl inical  s tudies
required for F DA approval  to market. O n 28 December 2022, the Company announced that the F DA had granted approval  for
i ts  drug device combina,on product, X ENOVI EW. X ENOVI EW, prepared from the Xenon Xe 129 Gas  Blend, i s  a  hyperpolarised
contrast agent indicated for use with M R I  for evalua,on of lung ven,la,on in adults  and pediatric pa,ents  aged 12 years
and older.
 
Between January 2012 and May 2017, the Subs idiary generated over US$3.7 mi l l ion of revenue from sel l ing polarisers  to
customers  in Canada, Germany, the UK  and the US for research use, rela,ng to both cl inical  (human) and pre-cl inical
(animal) appl ica,ons. I n addi,on, the Subs idiary received addi,onal  funding of approximately US$2.5 mi l l ion from Nukem
and other Series  A investors . P rior to the m2m merger, the Subs idiary was  a lso successful  in receiving grant funding,
including a  US$3 mi l l ion grant awarded in Apri l  2017 by the US Na,onal  Heart, Lung and Blood I ns,tute (NH LBI ) fol lowing a
compe,,ve appl ica,on process  (for which the research wi l l  be conducted with i ts  cl inical  col laborator, the C incinna,
Chi ldren's  Hospital ) and a US$250,000 smal l  bus iness  research loan from the North Carol ina Biotech Center in March 2017,
which was a lso awarded fol lowing a competitive appl ication process .
 
4.2 The Group's Technology and Products
 
The Subs idiary's  lead product has  been des ignated as  a  drug-device combina,on by the F DA. The Subs idiary's  product
enables  the visual isa,on of hyperpolarised 129Xe ("HPX") through M R I  technology to help diagnose lung disease earl ier,
iden,fy the type of interven,on l ikely to benefit a  pa,ent and to monitor the efficacy of treatment. As  a  result of the F DA's
drug-device des igna,on, the Subs idiary's  products  wi l l  be approved and sold only for use with each other. The products  are
currently being used at a  number of research s i tes  on a pre-F DA clearance bas is  to faci l i tate the research and evalua,on of
lung func,on, to ass ist in making improved disease progress ion assessment and to clearly visual ise the effec,veness  of
several  therapeu,cs  which are under development. The Group currently generates  revenue from the sale of products  within
its  129Xe gas  hyperpolarisation platform.
I mplemen,ng the Group's  technology in a  cl inical  seVng is  straighIorward: prior to the M R I  scan a pa,ent breathes  in a
smal l  amount of inert H PX  to provide an extremely strong M R I  s ignal . This  transforms the M R I  from a technology that i s  not
appl icable to the lungs  into one that i s  able to provide mul,ple images  of the lung structure and func,on in one 10-20
second breath-hold. HPX MRI overcomes the l imitations  of traditional  pulmonary function testing as  HPX MRI:
 

·    i s  more accurate and reproducible than spirometry and other tradi,onal  pulmonary func,on tests , enabl ing the
detection and mapping of smal l  and local ised changes  in lung venti lation and gas  exchange over time;

·    provides  regional  information about lung disease without exposure to ionis ing radiation or radioactivi ty; and
·    assesses  venti lation and gas  exchange in the smal lest a i rways, where disease often begins .

 
The Group's  technology works  in conjunc,on with tradi,onal  M R I , transforming i t into a  powerful  diagnos,c modal i ty for
the lung. The Group's  approach is  to take 129Xe, an inert gas , and hyperpolarise the nucleus  to create an M R I  s ignal  which is
approximately 100,000 ,mes stronger than a conven,onal  M R I  s ignal . W hen the M R I  scan is  undertaken, the H PX  resonates
at different frequencies: (i ) in the bronchioles  and alveol i  of the lung; (i i ) in the barrier ,ssue of the lung; and (i i i ) when
dissolved in arteria l  blood in the pulmonary vasculature, thus  providing informa,on on ven,la,on (the abi l i ty of a i r to
reach the alveol i ) and gas  exchange (the abi l i ty of a i r to diffuse through the alveolar membrane into the pulmonary
vasculature). As  a l l  pulmonary diseases  result from impairments  to the free flow of a i r through bronchioles , or from
abnormal  gas  exchange between the lung alveol i  and the pulmonary vasculature, the images  that result from H PX  M R I  scans
which have been executed us ing the Group's  technology can aid diagnosis , by enhancing the phys ician's  abi l i ty to clearly
iden,fy issues  with ven,la,on and gas  exchange on a regional  bas is , down to the smal lest of a i rways. Hyperpolarisa,on of
the 129Xe is  accompl ished by placing a  non-radioac,ve isotope of Xenon ( 129Xe) into a  beam of ci rcularly polarised laser
l ight in the presence of very smal l  concentra,on of the alkal i  metal  Rubidium, which acts  as  a  phys ical  catalyst in the
hyperpolarisa,on process . The result i s  129Xe whose nuclear magne,c spin is  highly a l igned but not chemical ly or
biological ly different than unpolarised 129Xe, an inert gas . This  hyperpolarised state pers ists  for around 2 hours  a l lowing
ample time to administer the HPX to the patient.



 
The Group's  products  include:

 
·    the 129Xe gas , blended and made under GMP at high puri ty, to be polarised within the polariser;

 
·    the polariser i tsel f, of which the latest model , the Polarean 9820 Xenon Hyperpolariser, has  been des igned to

del iver up to 3 l i tres  of H PX  per hour (approximately 5-10 doses) of which each dose is  to be used within 30
minutes  of i ts  production in order to retain sufficient polarisation to create a  strong image;

 
·    the dose del ivery inhala,on bag, made of H PX-compa,ble impermeable plas,c materia ls  and a mouthpiece for

ease of inhalation; and
 

·    the Polarean 2881 Polarisa,on Measurement Sta,on, which provides  a  cal ibrated measurement of the
polarisation of hyperpolarised gas  within the dose del ivery inhalation bag.
 

The Group currently des igns  and bui lds  the polariser equipment at a  contract manufacturer and has  rela,onships  with GM P
gas producers  to supply the Group with high puri ty 129Xe according to the Group's  speci fications.
 
I n order to take advantage of the Group's  current products , an M R I  machine is  required to be ouIiQed with hardware and
soSware capable of opera,ng at 129Xe frequency to detect the H PX  s ignal . I n addi,on, the pa,ent wi l l  need to wear a  129Xe
R F chest coi l  to a l low for detec,ng the H PX  M R s ignal  in the lungs. Approximately 35,000 M R I  machines  are currently in use
worldwide and technical ly many of these can be eas i ly adapted to be used with 129Xe frequency. The Group's  products  can
be placed near the M R I  scanner for ease of radiology workflow and, fol lowing the m2m merger, the Group has  con,nued to
explore ways  to further integrate the Group's  existing technology with the coi ls  which had previous ly been the focus  of m2m.
 
4.3 Location
 
The Group is  based at the Meridian Corporate Center, located in the Research Triangle Park area of North Carol ina, which
provides  a  favourable loca,on at which to further develop the core technology and product range. The Group's  faci l i,es
consist of more than 6,900 square feet of combined offices, laboratory space, inventory warehouse and assembly and
tes,ng areas. The Group benefits  from faci l i,es  that were original ly purpose-bui l t by GE for the des ign and manufacture of
hyperpolarisation equipment and components , pursuant to FDA-mandated guidel ines.
 
W ithin these faci l i,es  are a  dedicated research and development laboratory equipped with 3-phase power, central
compressed air, specia l ty gas  handl ing and distribu,on and separate hea,ng, ven,la,on and air condi,oning. The
laboratory area also includes  op,cal  cel l  produc,on equipment capable of s imultaneous process ing of four op,cal  cel ls
for Xenon appl ica,ons. The laboratory is  des igned for safe opera,on of class  4 lasers  and is  equipped with laser power and
spectral  testing apparatus.
 
The Group also maintains  a  dedicated polariser test bed that i s  used for product development and a dedicated Nuclear
Magne,c Resonance ("NM R") system capable of del ivering avai lable electromagne,c field strength, u,l ised for cal ibra,ng
absolute polarisation measurements  of hyperpolarised gas  samples .
 
4.4 The Regulatory Environment
 
P rior to the receipt of any approvals  for cl inical  use, the Group sold i ts  polarisers  and disposables  for research use only to
academic medical  centres  with their research being subject to overs ight by their respec,ve ins,tu,onal  review boards  and
conducted under IND from the FDA or equivalent regulatory body.
 
O n 28 December 2022, the Company announced that the F DA had granted approval  for i ts  drug device combina,on product,
X ENOVI EW. X ENOVI EW, prepared from the Xenon Xe 129 Gas  Blend, i s  a  hyperpolarised contrast agent indicated for use with
MRI for evaluation of lung venti lation in adults  and pediatric patients  aged 12 years  and older.
 
4.5 The Group's Customers
 
The Group's  exis,ng customer base already comprises  some of the world's  luminary medical  imaging research ins,tu,ons.
I ndeed, there are numerous research ins,tu,ons worldwide u,l is ing the Group's  system and products , including C incinna,
Chi ldren's  Hospital , the Univers i ty of Virginia, Univers i ty of W isconsin - Madison, Duke Univers i ty, Univers i ty of Kansas, the
Univers i ty of I owa and the Univers i ty of Texas  M D Anderson Cancer Center in the US, Robarts  Research I ns,tute and Hospital
for S ick Chi ldren (S ickK ids) in Canada, the Univers i ty of Oxford and the Univers i ty of NoVngham in the UK  and the
Fraunhofer Insti tute for Toxicology and Experimental  Medicine in Germany.
 
4.6 The Group's Suppliers
 
The Group has  entered into Master Service Agreements  with two C RO s in rela,on to the P hase I I I  tria l . P harma Start LLC,
doing bus iness  as  F i rma Cl inical  Research, managed the tria ls  and oversaw the recruitment of pa,ents  for the tria l . I n
addition, Icon Cl inical  Research Limited ass isted with the medical  imaging aspects  of the tria l .
 
The Group has  a  long-standing rela,onship with i ts  strategic investor Nukem I sotopes  GmbH ("Nukem"), a  leading global
suppl ier of 129Xe, the isotope of xenon which is  provided to the various  gas  blenders  that in turn supply gas  to the Group. I t
has  a  supply agreement with Nukem for 129Xe.
 
I n June 2020 the Group s igned an agreement with Linde Gas  North America LLC ("Linde"), in rela,on to the supply of the
Group's  drug product, a  129Xenon gas  blend. This  agreement contains  provis ion for the supply of bulk 129Xe to be
manufactured into the Ac,ve P harmaceu,cal  P roduct (AP I ), 129Xe, and for the blending, packaging, and distribu,on of i ts
drug product under GM P. O n 28 December 2022, the Group s igned an amended agreement with Linde, which modified some
commercial  terms and l imited the agreement to the blending packaging and distribution of i t drug product under GMP.
 
The Group has  an arrangement with the Blur P roduct Development ("Blur") to bui ld i ts  polariser systems in Blur's  GM P
faci l i ties .
 
4.7 Current Trading and Prospects
 
Trading of the Group s ince the Company's  I P O  con,nues to be in l ine with the Directors ' expecta,ons. The poten,al  of the
Group's  technology enables  the Directors  to view the future with confidence as  the Company focuses  on commercial isa,on
of XENOVIEW.



of XENOVIEW.
 
4.8 Growth Strategy

 
W ith the recent F DA approval , the Group is  adop,ng a tradi,onal  market entry strategy of bui lding market awareness  for i ts
technology through key opinion leaders  and a direct sales  force to reach the key decis ion makers  within i ts  ini,al  target
market of large academic medical  centres . I n implemen,ng this  strategy, the Group benefits  from approximately 1,000
journal  ar,cles  on the use of hyperpolarised gas  M R I  that are currently publ ished in peer-reviewed journals . O ver ,me, as
more research centres  purchase the Group's  equipment and begin cl inical  s tudies , an increas ing number of peer reviewed
scien,fic ar,cles  are l ikely to be publ ished, further enhancing the Group's  credibi l i ty and rais ing awareness  of the Group's
technology. The Directors  bel ieve that the market for polarisers  wi l l  grow as  the technology gains  wider acceptance as  a  tool
for studying lung disease and for monitoring the effec,veness  of therapeu,cs. The Group also intends to con,nue paten,ng
and in-l icens ing hyperpolarised gas  technology IP to protect i ts  current pos ition.
 
The Group's  ini,al  sales  targets  wi l l  be the radiology and pulmonary medicine departments  of top academic hospital
organisa,ons in the US, who are opinion leaders  in the use of new diagnos,c technologies  and their appl ica,on in a
cl inical  setting.
 
The Group is  expanding i ts  sales  and marke,ng teams. Because of the special ty nature of the Group's  products  in the
pulmonary special is t market, which is  concentrated in approximately 1,000 medical  centres , the Directors  bel ieve that a
smal l  specia l ty sales  force can be deployed effectively at reasonable cost.
 
The Group may also choose to partner with companies  that offer complementary products .
 
Furthermore, the Directors  bel ieve that the Group's  products  wi l l  benefit a  number of cl inical  appl ica,ons. W hi le the
Group's  H PX  M R I  technology provides  more specific informa,on than currently avai lable from exis,ng lung diagnos,c
procedures  (especial ly spirometry), the Group wi l l  focus  i ts  use on specific cl inical  condi,ons where the high accuracy of
H PX  M R I  and greater cost are jus,fied. The Directors  do not bel ieve that H PX  M R I  wi l l  replace low-cost spirometry as  a
general  screening tool  but bel ieve that i t should add value in more demanding cl inical  appl ica,ons where H PX  M R I
addresses  unmet diagnostic needs. These appl ications  could include, but are not l imited to, the fol lowing:
 

·    the monitoring of COPD therapy, especial ly for the most severe cases;
·    the management of cystic fibros is ;
·    determining the optimal  use of biologic therapy in chronic asthma;
·    a  more efficient diagnosis  of dyspnoea and the chronic cough;
·    providing guidance for radiation therapy planning of lung cancer treatment;
·    providing guidance for interven,onal  pulmonology procedures  including abla,on and the placement of valves  and

stents ;
·    surgical  procedure planning for lung transplant and volume reduction surgery;
·    diagnosis  of ILD and monitoring of ILD therapy;
·    diagnosis  of pulmonary vascular disease (PVD) including pulmonary arteria l  hypertens ion (PAH) and monitoring of

therapy; and
·    diagnosis  and monitoring of long COVID patients .

 
The Directors  have begun to develop rela,onships  with a  range of strategic partners  and wi l l  evaluate opportuni,es  which
wi l l  enable the Group to address  i ts  target markets  global ly, ei ther a lone or in col laboration with a  partner.

 
 Intellectual Property ("IP")
 
The Group's  technology has  been developed in four areas: (i ) hyperpolaris ing gas; (i i ) assuring the qual i ty of the
hyperpolarised gas; (i i i ) us ing the polarised gas  in M R I  appl ica,ons; and (iv) developing and producing special ised R F coi ls
to improve s ignal -to-noise ra,os ("SNR"). GE had put a  comprehensive patent pol icy in place to protect i ts  technology from
poten,al  compe,tors . The Group is  now the sole owner of this  I P  porIol io, which is  based on 10 patent fami l ies , and when
combined with the 7 patents  that were previous ly owned by m2m, that were transferred to the Group fol lowing the m2m
Merger, the Group's  portfol io covers  four broad types  of patents :
 

·    imaging methods - these cover the imaging of a  subject, or pa,ent, who has  inhaled a hyperpolarised noble gas  and
the func,onal i ty of the gas  as  a  contrast agent. Newly l icensed technology from Duke Univers i ty extends the
protection over these patents  through to the early 2030s;

·    hyperpolarisation methods - these are polarimetry patents  covering the methods by which noble gases  are polarised
and the methods by which the resul,ng polarised gas  is  i solated and del ivered to pa,ents . The latest of these
patents  expire in the early 2020s;

·    hyperpolarisaCon equipment - these patents  cover the mul,ple preferred mechanical  des ign and automa,on
elements  of hyperpolarised equipment; and

·    RF coil patents - these patents  cover the use of cryogenics  to improve R F coi ls  S NR and image qual i ty and may play an
important part in the next generation of appl ications  such as  neurological , cardiac and oncology imaging.

 
Polarean is  commiQed to proac,vely developing further I P, both internal ly and through l icens ing arrangements  with third
par,es, as  part of the Group's  overal l  growth strategy. The third par,es  are l ikely to include the Group's  key col labora,ve
academic s i tes , such as  Duke Univers i ty, that are seeking to develop emerging appl ica,ons and technologies . Because of the
Group's  extens ive patent porIol io and leading market pos i,on, the Directors  bel ieve the Group is  an aQrac,ve l icens ing
partner for academic research ins,tu,ons that are interested in out-l icens ing such I P. O ne such patent appl ica,on
(US15/120013), which is  currently pending, relates  to improving the overal l  efficiency of the hyperpolarisa,on process . This
patent has  a lso been exclus ively l icensed to the Group by Duke Univers i ty. The Directors  bel ieve that this  patent, now having
been prosecuted successful ly to issuance in a  number of geographic jurisdic,ons worldwide, would enable the Group to
protect methods for increas ing the level  of hyperpolarisa,on s ignificantly, which could improve the compe,,ve economics
of the Group's  products .
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties  
 
The principal  risks  and uncertainties  facing the Group are detai led below:
 
Early stage of operations
 
The Group's  opera,ons are at an early stage of development and there can be no guarantee that the Group wi l l  be able to, or
that i t wi l l  be commercial ly advantageous for the Group to, develop i ts  proprietary technology. Further, the Group currently
has  no pos i,ve opera,ng cash flow and i ts  ul,mate success  wi l l  depend on the Directors ' abi l i ty to implement the Group's



has no pos i,ve opera,ng cash flow and i ts  ul,mate success  wi l l  depend on the Directors ' abi l i ty to implement the Group's
strategy, generate cash flow and access  capital  markets .
 
Principal mitigation

The Group has  successful ly advanced the 129Xe technology for several  years , including sel l ing polarisers  for the research
market. The Group has  been able to access  capital  required to continue to advance the technology.
 
Regulatory approvals and compliance
 
The Group wi l l  need to obtain various  regulatory approvals  (including F DA and European Medicines  Agency ("EM A")
approvals) and otherwise comply with extens ive regula,ons regarding safety, qual i ty and efficacy standards  in order to
market i ts  future products . These regula,ons, including the ,me required for regulatory review, vary from country to country
and can be lengthy, expensive and uncertain.
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group u,l ises  external  specia l is ts  in regulatory affairs  who consult with other experts  to ensure that internal  control
processes  and cl inical  tria l  des igns  meet current regulatory requirements . The Group also engages  directly with regulatory
authori ties  when appropriate.
 
Future funding requirements
 
The Group wi l l  need to raise addi,onal  funding or enter into a  strategic partnership with industry partners  to undertake
work beyond that being funded by the £27 mi l l ion (before expenses) 2021 fundrais ing. There is  no certainty that this  wi l l  be
poss ible at a l l  or on acceptable terms.
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group successful ly engaged with investors  to generate s ignificant cash resources  to date, including the 2021 financing
that ra ised £27 mi l l ion, before expenses. The Group's  management team expects  that con,nued access  to capital  markets , or
other access  to capital , wi l l  be required to support the Group through regulatory approval  and ini,al  commercial isa,on
efforts  in the US. See Going Concern discuss ion below.
 
Dependence on key personnel
 
The success  of the Group, in common with other bus inesses  of a  s imi lar s ize, wi l l  be highly dependent on the exper,se and
experience of the Directors  and key employees. However, the reten,on of such key personnel  cannot be guaranteed. Should
key personnel  leave the Group's  bus iness , prospects , financial  condi,on or results  of opera,ons may be materia l ly
adversely affected.
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group's  recruitment processes  are des igned to iden,fy and aQract the best candidates  for specific roles . The Group aims
to provide competitive rewards  and incentives  to staff and directors .
 
Intellectual property and proprietary technology
 
No assurance can be given that any current or future patent appl ica,ons wi l l  result in granted patents , that the scope of any
patent protec,on wi l l  exclude compe,tors  or provide compe,,ve advantages  to the Group, that any of the Group's  patents
wi l l  be held val id i f chal lenged or that third parties  wi l l  not cla im rights  in or ownership of the patents  and other proprietary
rights  held by the Group.
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group has  a  long-standing track record of I P  genera,on and successful  appl ica,ons and has  a  long-standing
rela,onship with our patent aQorney who has  a  deep understanding of our technology. The Group ac,vely manages  i ts  I P,
engaging with special is ts  to apply for and defend IP rights  in appropriate terri tories .
 
Technology and products
 
The Group is  a  developer and service provider for noble gas  129Xe devices  and anci l lary instruments  with a  specia l  focus  on
pulmonary imaging. The development and commercial isa,on of i ts  proprietary technology and future products , which are in
early stages  of development, wi l l  require mul,ple series  of cl inical  tria ls  and there is  a  risk that safety and efficacy issues
may arise when the products  are tested. There is  a lso a  risk that there wi l l  be delays  to the development of the products  or
that unforeseen technical  problems arise as  the Group's  technology becomes increas ingly automated. These risks  are
common to a l l  new medical  products  and there is  a lso a  risk that the cl inical  tria ls  may not be successful .
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group has  a  depth of knowledge and experience in the area of medical  devices  development for the high-resolu,on
medical  imaging market. The Group also u,l ises  external  experts  to supplement their knowledge in cri,cal  areas  such as
safety, manufacturing and software development.
 
Research and development risk
 
The Group wi l l  be opera,ng in the l i fe sciences  and medical  device development sector and wi l l  look to exploit opportuni,es
within that sector. The Group wi l l  therefore be involved in complex scien,fic research and industry experience indicates  that
there may be a very high incidence of delay or fa i lure to produce results . The Group may not be able to develop new products
or to identi fy speci fic market needs that can be addressed by technology solutions  developed by the Group.
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group has  a  depth of knowledge and experience in the area of medical  devices  development for the high-resolu,on
medical  imaging market. The Group also u,l ises  external  experts  to supplement their knowledge in cri,cal  areas  such as
conducting cl inical  tria ls  and regulatory affa irs .
 
Competition



Competition
 
The Group notes  that several  s tart-ups  opera,ng in the C T soSware space have begun efforts  to commercial ise products
which represent to characterise lung ven,la,on. These technologies  use ionis ing radia,on, whereas  the Group's  technology
does not. I n addi,on, these technologies  are unable to further assess  gas  exchange, red blood cel l  transport, nor
microvascular haemodynamics .
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group bel ieves  that these emerging technologies  val idate the unmet need for the use of imaging in assess ing pulmonary
func,on. However, their use of ionis ing radia,on, combined with their inabi l i ty to assess  comprehensive pulmonary
function wi l l  render their uti l i ty l imited and the Directors  see no effect on the current market expectations  of Polarean.
 
Reliance on third parties
 
The bus iness  model  for the Group an,cipates  that i t wi l l  have l imited internal  resources  over the next few years  and that i t
wi l l  use third party providers  wherever poss ible to conduct the research, development, registra,on, manufacture, marke,ng
and sales  of i ts  proposed products . The commercial  success  of the Group's  products  wi l l  depend upon the performance of
these third parties .
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group seeks  experts  in the areas  where i t u,l ises  outsourcing. W herever poss ible, the Group seeks  to have dupl icate
suppl iers  to lessen the rel iance on a particular vendor.
 
Manufacturing
 
There can be no assurance that the Group's  proposed products  wi l l  be capable of being manufactured in commercial
quan,,es, in compl iance with regulatory requirements  and at an acceptable cost. The Group outsources  the manufacture of
the raw materia ls  and finished products  required in connec,on with the research, development and commercial
manufacture of i ts  proposed products  and, as  such, i s  whol ly dependent upon third par,es  for the provis ion of adequate
faci l i,es  and raw materia l  suppl ies . 129Xe, the specific isotope of xenon which is  the ac,ve ingredient in the Group's  drug-
device product, i s  avai lable from a l imited number of suppl iers  and there can be no assurance that adequate suppl ies  of this
materia l  at acceptable cost can be obtained. I n addi,on, where the Group is  dependent upon third par,es  for manufacture,
i ts  abi l i ty to procure the manufacture of the drug-device in a  manner which compl ies  with regulatory requirements  may be
constrained, and i ts  abi l i ty to develop and del iver such products  on a ,mely and compe,,ve bas is  may be adversely
affected.
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group has  des igned the manufacturing process  to be scalable and has  internal  experts  who train the outs ide vendors .
The Group has  establ ished rela,onships  with two 129Xe suppl iers  to mi,gate the risk that 129Xe supply wi l l  be a  l imita,on
to the development and commercial isa,on of i ts  products . I n addi,on, the Group has  establ ished a rela,onship with a  GM P
outs ide polariser manufacturer.
 
Product development timelines
 
P roduct development ,mel ines  are at risk of delay, par,cularly s ince i t i s  not a lways  poss ible to predict what the F DA wi l l
require for approval  of future NDA's . There is  a  risk therefore that product development could take longer than presently
expected by the Directors . I f such delays  occur the Group may require further working capital . The Directors  shal l  seek to
minimise the risk of delays  by careful  management of projects .
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group uti l i ses  consultants  who are experts  in preparing and fi l ing future NDAs in the US.
 
General legal and regulatory issues
 
The Group's  opera,ons are subject to laws, regulatory restric,ons and certain governmental  direc,ves, recommenda,ons
and guidel ines  rela,ng to, amongst other things , occupa,onal  safety, laboratory prac,ce, the use and handl ing of
hazardous materia ls , prevention of i l lness  and injury, environmental  protection and animal  and human testing. There can be
no assurance that future legis la,on wi l l  not impose further government regula,on, which may adversely affect the bus iness
or financial  condition of the Group.
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group consults  experts  for advice in areas  such as  occupational  safety, laboratory practice and human testing.
 
 
Healthcare pricing environment
 
I n common with other healthcare products  companies , the abi l i ty of the Group and any of i ts  l icensees  or col laborators  to
market i ts  products  successful ly depends in part on the extent to which reimbursement for the cost of such products  and
related treatment wi l l  be avai lable from government health administra,on authori,es, private health coverage insurers  and
other organisations.
 
Principal mitigation
 
The Group is  consul,ng with several  experts  in the field of reimbursement for healthcare products  in the US to determine the
best strategy for access ing adequate reimbursement for i ts  products .
 

Section 172 statement

 
As  required by section 172 of the Companies  Act 2006 (the "Act"), a  director of a  company must act in the way he or she
considers , in good fa i th, would l ikely promote the success  of the company for the benefi t of the shareholders . In doing so, the
director must have regard, amongst other matters , to the fol lowing issues:



director must have regard, amongst other matters , to the fol lowing issues:
 
• the l ikely consequences  of any decis ions  in the long term;
• the interests  of the company's  employees;
• the need to foster the company's  bus iness  relationships  with suppl iers/customers  and others ;
• the impact of the company's  operations  on the community and environment;
• the company's  reputation for high standards  of bus iness  conduct; and
• the need to act fa i rly between members  of the company.
 
The information required by section 172 of the Act i s  included in the ful l  Annual  Report.
 
 
 

Kenneth West
Non-Executive Chairman
25 May 2023

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
 

 2022  2021

 Notes US$  US$

Revenue 4 1,033,008 1,185,427
Cost of sales (684,732) (677,402)
Gross profit 348,276 508,025

Administrative expenses (8,464,766) (6,517,396)
Depreciation 11 (277,461) (177,349)
Amortisation 6 (760,780) (757,016)
Sel l ing and distribution expenses (3,310,592) (5,557,829)
Share-based payment expense 19 (1,205,247) (1,814,882)
Total operating costs (14,018,846) (14,824,472)
Operating loss 6 (13,670,570) (14,316,447)
Finance income 7 35,045 2,587
Finance expense 7 (23,762) (21,101)
Other gains/(losses) - net 7 (246,309) 318,957
Loss before tax (13,905,596) (14,016,004)
Taxation 10 - -
Loss for the year and total other comprehensive expense (13,905,596) (14,016,004)
                                                                                                                                                                        

Loss per share  

Bas ic and di luted (US$) 9 (0.066) (0.071)
 
The results  reflected above relate to continuing activi ties .
 
There are no i tems of O ther Comprehensive I ncome ("O C I ") for the year other than the loss  above and therefore no
separate statement of other comprehensive income has  been presented.
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
 
 Notes 2022  2021
  US$  US$
ASSETS  
Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 11 418,498 634,779
Intangible assets 12 1,581,591 2,193,843
Right-of-use assets 24 274,288 422,816
Trade and other receivables 14 437,539 5,539

2,711,916 3,256,977
Current assets
Inventories 15 1,711,419 1,426,810
Trade and other receivables 14 1,659,649 970,968
Cash and cash equivalents 16 16,454,241 28,874,908

19,825,309 31,272,686
TOTAL ASSETS 22,537,225  34,529,663

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to holders of the parent    
Share capital 17 103,463 101,642
Share premium 18 59,288,383 59,022,919
Group re-organisation reserve 18 7,813,337 7,813,337
Share-based payment reserve 19 4,865,579 3,660,332
Accumulated losses 18 (52,765,804) (38,860,208)

19,304,958 31,738,022

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income 21 128,704 145,747
Trade and other payables 22 360,000 -
Lease l iabi l i ty 24 216,691 358,837
Contingent cons ideration 20 316,000 316,000
 1,021,395 820,584

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 1,979,001 1,731,114
Lease l iabi l i ty 24 142,146 130,949
Deferred income 21 89,725 108,994

2,210,872 1,971,057
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 22,537,225  34,529,663
 
These Financial  Statements  were approved and authorised for i ssue by the Board of Directors  on 25 May 2023 and
were s igned on i ts  behal f by:
 
Kenneth West 
Non-Executive Chairman
 
Company number: 10442853
 
 

 
 
 

 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
 

 

 
 

Share capital
US$

 

 

Share
premium

US$

 

Share-based
payment

reserve
US$

 

Group
re-organisation

reserve
US$

 Accumulated losses

As at 1 January 2021 78,200 23,840,571 1,845,450 7,813,337
Comprehensive income
Loss  for the year - - - -
Transactions with owners
Issue of shares 23,442 37,284,454 - -
Share issue costs - (2,102,106) - -



Share issue costs - (2,102,106) - -
Share-based payment expense - - 1,814,882 -

As at 31 December 2021 (audited) 101,642 59,022,919 3,660,332 7,813,337
Comprehensive income         
Loss  for the year - - - -
Transactions with owners
Issue of shares 1,821 265,464 - -
Share-based payment expense - - 1,205,247 -

As at 31 December 2022 103,463 59,288,383 4,865,579 7,813,337
 
 
 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
 

 

                

                2022 
                US$  

       

 2021
US$

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss  before tax (13,905,596) (14,016,004)
Adjustments  for non-cash/non-operating i tems:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 277,461 177,349
Amortisation of intangible assets  and right-of use-assets 760,780 757,015
Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment 2,766 590
Loss  on remeasurement of right-of-use assets - 11,660
Share-based payment expense 1,205,247 1,814,882
Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) 246,309 (318,957)
Finance expense 23,762 21,101
Finance income (35,045) (2,587)

Operating cash outflows before movements in working capital (11,424,316) (11,554,951)

Increase in inventories (284,609) (448,886)
Increase in trade and other receivables (1,120,681) (622,901)
Increase in trade and other payables 607,887 382,247
Decrease in deferred income (36,312) (5,976)

Net cash used in operations (12,258,031)  (12,250,467)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (63,946) (541,454)
Net cash used in investing activities (63,946)  (541,454)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of shares 267,285 37,307,896
Cost of i ssue - (2,102,106)
Interest paid on lease l iabi l i ties (23,762) (21,101)
Interest received 35,045 2,587
Principal  elements  of lease payments (130,949) (122,069)

Net cash generated by financing activities 147,619  
35,065,207

 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (12,174,358) 22,273,286

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 28,874,908 6,282,665

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  on cash and cash equivalents (246,309) 318,957

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 16,454,241  28,874,908

  
 
 

 
 
 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements
 
General information
 
The Company is  incorporated in England and Wales  under the Companies  Act 2006. The registered number is
10442853 and i ts  registered office is  at 27-28 Eastcastle Street, London, W 1W  8D H. The Company is  l i s ted on the



10442853 and i ts  registered office is  at 27-28 Eastcastle Street, London, W 1W  8D H. The Company is  l i s ted on the
AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.
 
The Company is  the parent company of Polarean, I nc (the "Subsidiary", together the "Group"). The principal
ac,vity of the Group is  developing next genera,on medical  imaging technology. The Subs idiary is  incorporated in
the United States  of America and has  a  registered office of 2500 Meridian Parkway #175, Durham, NC 27713, USA.
 
 

Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards
 
Standards and interpretations adopted during the year
 
I nforma,on on new standards, amendments  and interpreta,ons that are relevant to the Group's  annual  report
and accounts  is  provided below:
 

·    Onerous  Contracts  - Cost of Ful fi l l ing a  Contract (Amendments  to IAS 37);

·    Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments  to IAS 16);

·    Annual  I mprovements  to I F RS Standards  2018-2020 (Amendments  to I F RS 1, I F RS 9, I F RS 16 and I AS 41);
and

·    References  to Conceptual  Framework (Amendments  to IFRS 3).
 

These standards  have no materia l  impact on the Group.
 
Standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective
 
There are a  number of standards, amendments  to standards, and interpreta,ons which have been issued by the
United K ingdom Endorsement Board (UK EB) that are effec,ve in future accoun,ng periods  that the Company has
decided not to adopt early. These standards, amendments  or interpreta,ons are not expected to have a materia l
impact on the Group.
 
Significant accounting policies
 
Basis of preparation
 
These financial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance with UK  adopted I nterna,onal  Accoun,ng
Standards  ("I F RS") and under the historical  cost conven,on. The financial  s tatements  are presented in United
States  Dol lars  ("US$") except where otherwise indicated.
 
The principal  accoun,ng pol icies  adopted in the prepara,on of the financial  s tatements  are set out below. The
pol icies  have been cons istently appl ied to a l l  the years  presented, unless  otherwise stated.
 
Going concern
 
The Group is  moving from the development stage to ful l  commercial  exploita,on of i ts  I P. During the year ended
31 December 2022 the Group recorded a loss  aSer tax of US$13,905,596 (2021: loss  of US$14,016,004) and a net
cash outflow from operating activi ties  of US$12,258,031 (2021: US$12,250,467).
 
The Directors  have prepared financial  projec,ons and plans  for a  period of at least 12 months  from the date of
approval  of these financial  s tatements . Based on the current management plan, management bel ieves  that these
funds are sufficient for the expenditure to date as  wel l  as  the planned forecast expenditure for the forthcoming 12
months.
 
I t i s  an,cipated that addi,onal  capital  wi l l  need to be raised by the end of the second quarter of 2024 in order to
con,nue to fund the Group's  ac,vi,es  at their planned levels  beyond this  date. This  represents  a  materia l
uncertainty that may cast s ignificant doubt about the Group's  and Company's  abi l i ty to con,nue as  a  going
concern. However, the Directors  have a reasonable expecta,on that this  uncertainty can be managed to a
successful  outcome, and based on that assessment, the Group and Company wi l l  have adequate resources  to
con,nue in opera,onal  existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, these financial  s tatements  have been
prepared on the going concern bas is .
 
The financial  s tatements  do not reflect any adjustments  that would be required to be made i f they were to be
prepared on a bas is  other than the going concern bas is .
 
Share capital
 
O rdinary shares  are class ified as  equity. I ncremental  costs  directly aQributable to the issue of new shares  are
shown in share premium as  a  deduction from the proceeds.

 
Inventory
 
I nventories  are measured at the lower of cost and net real isable value. The cost of inventories  is  based on the
weighted average cost principle and includes  expenditure incurred in inventories , adjusted for rebates , and other
costs  incurred in bringing them to their existing location.
 
Cash and cash equivalents
 
Cash and cash equivalents  comprise cash balances  and cal l  deposits  with an original  maturi ty of three months  or
less .
 
Functional and presentation currency
 
I tems included in the financial  s tatements  of the Group are measured us ing the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Group operates  ("the func,onal  currency"). The financial  s tatements  are presented in
United States  Dol lars  (US$) which is  a lso the Group's  functional  currency.
 
Foreign currencies



Foreign currencies
 
Transac,ons in foreign currencies  are ini,al ly recorded by the Group's  en,,es at their respec,ve func,onal
currency spot rates  at the date the transaction fi rst qual i fies  for recognition.
 
Monetary assets  and l iabi l i,es  denominated in foreign currencies  are trans lated at the func,onal  currency spot
rates  of exchange at the reporting date.
 
Di fferences  aris ing on settlement or trans lation of monetary i tems are recognised in profi t or loss .
 
For the purpose of presen,ng the consol idated financial  s tatements , the assets  and l iabi l i,es  of the Group's
foreign opera,ons are trans lated at exchange rates  prevai l ing on the repor,ng date. I ncome and expense i tems
are trans lated at the average exchange rates  for each period, unless  exchange rates  fluctuate s ignificantly during
that period, in which case the exchange rates  at the date of transac,on are used. Al l  resul,ng exchange
differences  are recognised in "other comprehensive income" and accumulated in equity.
 
Basis of consolidation
 
The consol idated financial  s tatements  are for the year ended 31 December 2022. The measurement bases  and
principal  accounting pol icies  of the Group are set out below.
 
O n 30 May 2017 Polarean Merger-Sub, I nc., a  Subs idiary of the Subs idiary, completed a merger process  under
which i t acquired substan,al ly a l l  of the assets  of m2m I maging Corp ("m2m"), a  porIol io company of Amphion
I nnova,ons plc engaged in the development of high-performance M R I  R F coi ls  for the global  research market,
primari ly in micro-imaging. By 2016 m2m had been inac,ve for several  years  due to an inabi l i ty to ra ise funds. At
the date of the merger the assets  of m2m were i ts  technology and patents . The merger was  affected by way of court
sanc,on in the process  of which the Subs idiary acquired, through a specia l  purpose en,ty, Polarean Merger Sub,
I nc. the assets  of another specia l  purpose en,ty, m2m Merger Sub, I nc., with m2m Merger Sub, I nc. being the
surviving en,ty. ASer the repor,ng date, on 1 September 2017, m2m Merger Sub, I nc. was  merged into the
Subsidiary with the Subs idiary being the surviving en,ty, the effect being that m2m Merger Sub, I nc. was
col lapsed, and the Subs idiary had acquired the m2m assets .
 
As  part of the arrangements  for the merger 576,430 shares  in the Subs idiary were issued to the former
shareholders  in m2m with the inten,on that a l l  par,es  would exchange their stock in Polarean, I nc. for shares  in
the Group on a pro rata bas is  as  soon as  practicable.
 
The Directors  cons ider the merger between the Subs idiary and m2m Acquis i,on, I nc. as  a  consequence of which
the group acquired the exclus ive worldwide rights  to m2m's  technology and patents  does  not meet the defini,on
of an acquis i,on of a  bus iness  as  set out in I F RS3 and has  therefore been accounted for as  the acquis i,on of an
asset or a  group of assets  that does  not consti tute a  bus iness .
 
I F RS 3 requires  that in such cases  the acquirer shal l  iden,fy and recognise the individual  iden,fiable assets
acquired (including those assets  that meet the defini,on of, and recogni,on cri teria  for, intangible assets  in I AS
38 I ntangible assets) and to a l locate the cost of the individual  iden,fiable assets  and l iabi l i,es  on the bas is  of
their relative fa ir values  at the date of purchase. Such a transaction or event does  not give rise to goodwi l l .
 
The fa ir value of the assets  acquired under the merger arrangement of US$4,999,996 represents  the aggregate
es,mated value of the financial  obl iga,ons of the former m2m shareholders  which were converted into equity in
m2m prior to the merger agreement.
 
The Directors  cons ider the acquis i,on of the en,re issued common stock of the Subs idiary by the Company in
exchange for equivalent equity par,cipa,on in the Company to be a group re-organisa,on and not a  bus iness
combina,on and to fa l l  outs ide the scope of I F RS 3. Having cons idered the requirements  of I AS 8 and the relevant
UK  and US guidance, the transac,on has  been accounted for on a merger or pool ing of interest bas is  as  i f both
en,,es had always  been combined, us ing book values, with no fa ir value adjustments  made nor goodwi l l
recognised.
 
Revenue recognition
 
Revenue comprises  the fa ir value of the sale of goods and rendering of services  to external  customers, net of
appl icable sales  tax, rebates , promotions  and returns.
 
Contracts and obligation
 
The majori ty of customer contracts  have three main elements  that the Group provides  to the customer:

-     Sale of polarisers ;
-     Sale of parts  and upgrades; and
-     Provis ion of service.

 
The sale of polarisers  i s  seen as  a  dis,nct performance obl iga,on and revenue is  recognised at a  point in ,me.
The customer can benefit from the use of the polarisers  when suppl ied and is  not rel iant on the Group to provide
the parts  and upgrades  or service, and therefore revenue from the sale of polarisers  i s  recognised in ful l  when the
goods are del ivered to the customer.
 
The second performance obl iga,on is  the sale of parts  and upgrades. The customer can benefit from the use of the
parts  and upgrade when suppl ied and is  not rel iant on the Group to provide the service, and therefore revenue
from the sale of parts  and upgrades  is  recognised in ful l  when the goods are del ivered to the customer.
 
The third performance obl iga,on is  the provis ion of preven,ve maintenance service. Revenue from the provis ion
of preven,ve maintenance service is  recognised over the period when the services  are rendered. A contract
l iabi l i ty represents  the obl iga,on of the Group to render services  to a  customer for which cons idera,on has  been
received (or the amount is  due) from the customer.
 
Determining the transaction price
 
The transac,on price is  determined as  the fa ir value of the Group expects  to receive over the course of the
contract.
 



 
There are no incentives  given to customers  that would have a materia l  effect on the financial  s tatements .
 
Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
 
The al loca,on of the transac,on price to the performance obl iga,ons in the contract i s  non-complex for the
Group. There is  a  fixed unit price for each product or service sold. Therefore, there is  l imited judgement involved
in a l locating the contract price to each unit ordered.
 
Recognise revenue when or as the entity satisfies its performance obligations
 
The overarching terms are cons istent in each contract.
 
The sale of polarisers  i s  seen as  a  dis,nct performance obl iga,on and revenue is  recognised at a  point in ,me,
when ,tle of the goods transferred to the customer, as  the customer can benefit from the use of the polarisers
when suppl ied.
 
The sale of parts  and upgrades  is  seen as  a  dis,nct performance obl iga,on and revenue is  recognised at a  point
in ,me, when suppl ied to the customer, as  the customer can benefit from the use of the parts  and upgrade when
suppl ied.
 
The provis ion of service is  seen as  a  dis,nct performance obl iga,on and revenue is  recognised as  the Group
provides  these services  for the dura,on of the contract, i .e. over ,me.  Any unexpired por,on of a  service contract
or payment received in advance in respect of service contracts  ei ther par,al ly completed or not started, are
included in deferred income and released over their remaining term.
 
Property, plant and equipment
 
Owned assets
 
I tems of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or deemed cost less  accumulated deprecia,on and
impairment losses . Cost includes  the original  purchase price of the asset and the costs  aQributable to bringing
the asset to i ts  working condi,on for i ts  intended use. W hen parts  of an i tem of property, plant and equipment
have different useful  l ives , those components  are accounted for as  separate i tems of property, plant and
equipment.
 
Subsequent costs  are included in the asset's  carrying amount or recognised as  a  separate asset, as  appropriate,
only when i t i s  probable that future economic benefits  associated with the i tem wi l l  flow to the Group and the cost
of the i tem can be measured rel iably.
 
Depreciation
 
Deprecia,on is  charged to profit or loss  on a straight-l ine bas is  over the es,mated useful  l ives  of each part of an
item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful  l ives  are as  fol lows:
 

●     Computer and IT equipment - 33% straight l ine
●     Leasehold improvements  - 20% straight l ine
●     Laboratory equipment - 20% straight l ine

 
The res idual  values, useful  l ives  and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted i f appropriate, or i f there is
an indication of a  s igni ficant change s ince the last reporting date.

 
Gains  and losses  on disposals  are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within administrative expenses  in the statement of comprehensive income.
 
Intangible Assets
 
Patents  and related rights  are assessed by reviewing their net present value of future cash flows. Patents  are
currently amortised over their useful  l i fe, not exceeding 10 years .
 
I nternal ly generated intangible assets  - research costs  are costs  incurred in research ac,vi,es  and are
recognised as  an expense in the period in which they are incurred. An internal ly generated intangible asset aris ing
from the development of commercial  technologies  is  recognised only i f a l l  of the fol lowing conditions  are met:
 

·    i t i s  probable that the asset wi l l  create future economic benefi ts ;
·    the development costs  can be measured rel iably;
·    technical  feas ibi l i ty of completing the intangible asset can be demonstrated;
·    there is  the intention to complete the asset and use or sel l  i t;
·    there is  the abi l i ty to use or sel l  the asset; and
·    adequate technical , financial  and other resources  to complete the development and to use or sel l  the asset

are avai lable.
 
At this  ,me the Directors  cons ider that the Group does  not meet a l l  of those condi,ons and development costs  are
therefore recorded as  expense in the period in which the cost i s  incurred.
 
Impairment of non-financial assets
 
Non-financial  assets  are reviewed for impairment whenever events  or changes  in ci rcumstances  indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss  i s  recognised for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds i ts  recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is  the higher of an asset's  fa i r value
less  costs  to sel l  and value in use. For the purposes  of assess ing impairment, assets  are reviewed at the lowest
levels  for which there are separately identi fiable cash flows (cash-generating units ).
 
Non-financial  assets  other than goodwi l l  that suffered impairment are reviewed for poss ible reversal  of the
impairment at each reporting date.
 
Provisions



Provisions
 
A provis ion is  recognised in the statement of financial  pos i,on when the Group has  a  present legal  or
construc,ve obl iga,on as  a  result of a  past event, and i t i s  probable that an ouIlow of economic benefits  wi l l  be
required to seQle the obl iga,on. I f the effect is  materia l , provis ions  are determined by discoun,ng the expected
future cash flows at a  pre-tax rate that reflects  current market assessments  of the ,me value of money and, when
appropriate, the risks  specific to the l iabi l i ty. The increase in the provis ion due to the passage of ,me is
recognised in finance costs .
 
Financial assets
 
The Group class ifies  a l l  of i ts  financial  assets  at amor,sed cost. F inancial  assets  do not comprise prepayments .
Management determines  the class i fication of i ts  financial  assets  at ini tia l  recognition.
 
These assets  arise principal ly from the provis ion of goods and services  to customers  (e.g. trade receivables), but
also incorporate other types  of financial  assets  where the objec,ve is  to hold their assets  in order to col lect
contractual  cash flows and the contractual  cash flows are solely payments  of the principal  and interest. They are
ini,al ly recognised at fa i r value plus  transac,on costs  that are directly aQributable to their acquis i,on or i ssue
and are subsequently carried at amor,sed cost us ing the effec,ve interest rate method, less  provis ion for
impairment.
 
Amortised Cost
 
The Group's  financial  assets  held at amor,sed cost comprise trade and other receivables  and cash and cash
equivalents  in the consol idated statement of financial  pos ition.
 
I mpairment provis ions  for trade receivables  are recognised based on the s impl ified approach within I F RS 9 us ing
the l i fe,me expected credit losses . During this  process  the probabi l i ty of the non-payment of the trade receivables
is  assessed. This  probabi l i ty i s  then mul,pl ied by the amount of the expected loss  aris ing from default to
determine the l i fe,me expected credit loss  for the trade receivables . For trade receivables , which are reported net;
such provis ions  are recorded in a  separate provis ion account with the loss  being recognised within
administra,ve expenses  in the consol idated statement of comprehensive income. O n confirma,on that the trade
receivable wi l l  not be col lectable, the gross  carrying value of the asset i s  wriQen off against the associated
provis ion.
 
I mpairment provis ions  for other receivables  are recognised based on the general  impairment model  within I F RS 9.
I n doing so, the Company fol lows the 3-stage approach to expected credit losses . Step 1 is  to es,mate the
probabi l i ty that the debtor wi l l  default over the next 12 months. Step 2 cons iders  i f the credit risk has  increased
s ignificantly s ince ini,al  recogni,on of the debtor. F inal ly, Step 3 cons iders  i f the debtor is  credit impaired,
fol lowing the cri teria  under IAS 39.
 
Financial liabilities
 
The Group class ifies  i ts  financial  l iabi l i,es  in the category of financial  l iabi l i,es  at amor,sed cost. Al l  financial
l iabi l i,es  are recognised in the statement of financial  pos i,on when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual  provis ion of the instrument.
 
F inancial  l iabi l i,es  measured at amor,sed cost comprise trade payables  and other short-dated monetary
l iabi l i,es , which are ini,al ly recognised at fa i r value and subsequently carried at amor,sed cost us ing the
effective interest rate method.
 
Unless  otherwise indicated, the carrying values  of the Group's  financial  l iabi l i,es  measured at amor,sed cost
represents  a  reasonable approximation of their fa i r values.
 
Employee benefits: pension obligations
 
The Group operates  a  defined contribu,on plan. A defined contribu,on plan is  a  pens ion plan under which the
Group pays  fixed contribu,ons into a  separate en,ty. The Group has  no legal  or construc,ve obl iga,ons to pay
further contribu,ons i f the fund does  not hold sufficient assets  to pay al l  employees  the benefits  rela,ng to
employee service in the current and prior periods.
 
The Group has  no further payment obl iga,ons once the contribu,ons have been paid. The contribu,ons are
recognised as  employee benefit expense when they are due. P repaid contribu,ons are recognised as  an asset to
the extent that a  cash refund or a  reduction in the future payments  is  avai lable.
 
Finance costs

Finance costs  comprise interest on lease l iabi l i,es; and are expensed us ing the effec,ve interest method in the
period in which they are incurred.
 
Finance income

Finance income comprises  interest income and dividend income.
 
Interest income is  recognised in the income statement as  i t accrues  us ing the effective interest method.
 
Other gains and losses - net
 
Other gains  and losses  comprise foreign exchange gains  and losses  on cash and cash equivalents .
 
Leases
 
Definition of a lease
 
The Group assesses  whether a  contract i s  or contains  a  lease. A contract i s  or contains  a  lease i f the contract
conveys  a  right to control  the use of an identi fied asset for a  period of time in exchange for cons ideration.
 
The Group recognises  a  right-of-use asset and a lease l iabi l i ty at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use
asset i s  ini,al ly measured at cost, and subsequently at cost less  any accumulated amor,sa,on and impairment



losses  and adjusted for certain measurements  of the lease l iabi l i ty. Right-of-use assets  are amor,sed on a
straight-l ine bas is  over the remaining term of the lease or over the remaining economic l i fe of the asset i f, rarely,
this  i s  judged to be shorter than the lease term.
 
The lease l iabi l i ty i s  ini,al ly measured at the present value of the lease payments  that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted us ing the interest rate impl ici t or, i f that rate cannot be readi ly determined, the
Group's  incremental  borrowing rate. General ly, the Group uses  i ts  incremental  borrowing rate as  the discount
rate.
 
The lease l iabi l i ty i s  subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease l iabi l i ty and decreased by lease
payments  made. I t i s  remeasured when there is  a  change in future lease payments  aris ing from a change in an
index or rate, a  change in es,mate of the amount expected to be payable under a  res idual  value guarantee, or as
appropriate, changes  in the assessment of whether a  purchase or extens ion op,on is  reasonably certain to be
exercised or a  termination option is  reasonably certain not to be exercised.
 
The Group has  appl ied judgement to determine the lease term for some lease contracts  in which i t i s  a  lease that
include renewal  op,ons. The assessment of whether the Group is  reasonably certain to exercise such op,ons
impacts  the lease term, which s ignificantly affects  the amount of lease l iabi l i,es  ad right-of-use assets
recognised.
 
As  at 31 December 2022, poten,al  future cash ouIlows of $479,477 (undiscounted) have not been included in the
lease l iabi l i ty because i t i s  not reasonably certain that the leases  wi l l  be extended (2021: $421,142).
 
Income tax
 
I ncome tax for the years  presented comprises  current and deferred tax. I ncome tax is  recognised in the income
statement except to the extent that i t relates  to i tems recognised directly in equity, in which case i t i s  recognised in
equity. Current tax is  the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, us ing tax rates  enacted or
substan,vely enacted at the statement of financial  pos i,on date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous  years .
 
Deferred tax is  recognised on temporary differences  aris ing between the tax bases  of assets  and l iabi l i,es  and
their carrying amounts .
 
The fol lowing temporary differences  are not recognised i f they arise from a) the ini,al  recogni,on of goodwi l l ,
and b) for the ini,al  recogni,on of other assets  or l iabi l i,es  in a  transac,on other than a bus iness  combina,on
that at the ,me of the transac,on affects  neither accoun,ng nor taxable profit or loss . Deferred tax is  determined
using tax rates  and laws that have been enacted or substan,al ly enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset i s  real ised, or the deferred income tax l iabi l i ty i s  settled.
 
A deferred tax asset i s  recognised only to the extent that i t i s  probable that future taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable
against which the asset can be u,l ised. Deferred tax assets  are reduced to the extent that i t i s  no longer probable
that the related tax benefi t wi l l  be real ised.
 
Deferred income tax assets  and l iabi l i,es  are offset when there is  a  legal ly enforceable right to offset current tax
assets  against current tax l iabi l i,es  and when the deferred income taxes  assets  and l iabi l i,es  relate to income
taxes  levied by the same taxa,on authori ty on ei ther the taxable en,ty or different taxable en,,es where there is
an intention to settle the balances  on a net bas is .
 
Critical accounting estimates and judgements
 
The prepara,on of the Group's  financial  s tatements  under I F RS requires  the directors  to make es,mates  and
assump,ons that affect the reported amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i,es  and the disclosure of con,ngent assets  and
l iabi l i,es. Es,mates  and judgements  are con,nual ly evaluated and are based on historical  experience and other
factors  including expecta,ons of future events  that are bel ieved to be reasonable under the ci rcumstances. Actual
results  may di ffer from these estimates.
 
The directors  cons ider that the fol lowing judgements  are l ikely to have the most s ignificant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial  s tatements .
 
Carrying value of intangible assets - Group
 
I n determining whether there are indicators  of impairment of the Group's  intangible assets , the directors  take into
considera,on various  factors  including the economic viabi l i ty and expected future financial  performance of the
asset and when i t relates  to the intangible assets  aris ing on a bus iness  combina,on, the expected future
performance of the bus iness  acquired.
 
Carrying value of investments in and amounts receivable from subsidiaries - Company
 
I n determining whether there are indicators  of impairment of the Company's  investments  in, and amounts
receivable from, i ts  subs idiary undertakings , the directors  take into cons idera,on various  factors  including the
economic viabi l i ty and expected future financial  performance of the bus iness  of the subs idiary undertakings.
 
4.   Segmental information
 
I F RS 8 requires  opera,ng segments  to be iden,fied on the bas is  of internal  reports  about components  of the
Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief opera,ng decis ion maker (which takes  the form of the Board of
Directors) as  defined in IFRS 8, in order to a l locate resources  to the segment and to assess  i ts  performance.
 
The chief opera,ng decis ion maker has  determined that the Group has  one opera,ng segment, the development
and commercial isa,on of gas  polariser devices  and anci l lary instruments . Revenues are reviewed based on the
products  and services  provided: Polarisers , Parts  and Upgrades, Service and Other revenue.
 
The Group trades  in Canada, Germany, the United K ingdom and the United States  of America. Revenue by origin of
geographical  segment for a l l  enti ties  in the Group is  as  fol lows:
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

Revenue
 2022  2021
 US$  US$

Canada 446,396 529,824

Germany - 6,750

United Kingdom 17,800 25,183

United States  of America 568,812 623,670

Total 1,033,008 1,185,427
 
 Non-current assets    
 2022  2021

 US$  US$

United States  of America 2,711,916 3,256,977

Total 2,711,916 3,256,977

 
Product and services revenue analysis

 
 Revenue    

2022  2021
US$  US$

Polarisers 759,099 826,059
Parts  and Upgrades 155,787 275,789

Service 118,122 83,579

Total 1,033,008 1,185,427
 

 
Management measures  revenues by reference to the Group's  core services  and products  and related services ,
which underpin such income.
 
5.   Employees and Directors
 
Staff costs for the Group and the Company during the year:

2022  2021
US$  US$

Wages and salaries 4,207,833 3,604,758
Healthcare benefi ts 248,927 220,476
Social  Securi ty costs 290,531 248,063

4,747,341 4,073,297
               

Average monthly number of people (including directors) employed by activi ty:
2022  2021

No.   No.

Senior management including directors 11 10
R&D and cl inical  tria l 10 11
Administration 7 7
Total 28 28

 
Key management compensation:

The fol lowing table detai ls  the aggregate compensation paid to key management personnel .
2022  2021

US$  US$
Salaries  and fees 1,527,810 1,394,235
Healthcare benefi ts 85,025     85,830
Social  securi ty costs 70,311 69,465

1,683,146 1,549,530

 
Key management personnel  include al l  di rectors  who together have authori ty and responsibi l i ty for planning,
directing, and control l ing the activi ties  of the Group and senior divis ional  managers .
 
6.   Operating loss
 

 2022  2021
 US$  US$

Depreciation
-     Owned property, plant and equipment 277,461 177,349

Amortisation of right-of-use assets 148,528 140,164



Amortisation of right-of-use assets 148,528 140,164
Amortisation of intangible assets 612,252 616,851
Subtotal  Amortisation 760,780  757,015
Research expenses 619,007 649,695
Auditors ' remuneration (note 8) 66,000 55,664
Cl inical  tria l  costs 1,070,004 (52,599)
Regulatory consulting costs 1,964,040 1,126,675
Legal  and profess ional  fees 493,290 494,688
Brand development and market research 134,645 2,091,921
Medical  affa irs  and congress/symposia 353,066 916,238

 
 
7.   Other income and expense items
 

 
2022

US$
 2021

US$
Finance income
Sundry income 35,045 2,587
Total  finance income 35,045 2,587

Finance expense
Interest on lease l iabi l i ties 23,762 21,101
Total  finance expense 23,762 21,101

 

Other gains and losses - net
2022

US$
 2021

US$
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) (246,309) 318,957

(246,309) 318,957

 

8.   Auditor remuneration
                 

 2022  2021
 US$  US$
Auditors' remuneration
Fees  payable to the Group's  auditor for audit of Parent Company and
Consol idated Financial  Statements 66,000 55,664

 
 
9.   Loss per share
 
The loss  per share has  been calculated us ing the loss  for the year and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares  outstanding during the year, as  fol lows:
 

2022
US$

 

     2021
US$

Loss  for the year attributable to shareholders  of the Group (US$) (13,905,596) (14,016,004)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 211,948,868 196,961,274
Basic and diluted loss per share (0.066) (0.071)

 
 
For di luted loss  per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares  in issue is  adjusted to assume
convers ion of a l l  poten,al  di lu,ve warrants , op,ons and conver,ble loans  over ordinary shares. Poten,al
ordinary shares  resul,ng from the exercise of warrants , op,ons and the convers ion of conver,ble loans  have an
an,-di lu,ve effect due to the Group being in a  loss  pos i,on. As  a  result, di luted loss  per share is  disclosed as  the
same value as  bas ic loss  per share.
 
10.  Taxation
 
There were no charges  to income tax due to the losses  incurred by the Group in the period.
 
I ncome taxes  computed at the statutory federal  income tax of 21% (2021: 21%) and the state income tax of 2.5%
(2021: 2.50%) UK corporation tax is  calculated at 19% of the estimated assessable profi ts  for the year.
 

 
2022

US$
 2021

US$
Loss  on ordinary activi ties  before tax (13,905,596) (14,016,004)
Taxable permanent di fferences (254,993) (49,828)
Taxable loss  on ordinary activi ties (14,160,589) (14,065,832)

Taxable loss  on ordinary activi ties  multipl ied by the rate of corporation
tax in the US as  above

(2,973,724) (2,953,825)

Effects  of:
Adjustments  for rate of tax in other jurisdictions 40,752 42,577
Unrel ieved tax losses  carried forward 2,932,971 2,911,248
Total  taxation charge - -
 
 
The tax reform act of 1986 contains  provis ions  which l imit the abi l i ty to u,l ise the net opera,ng loss  carry



The tax reform act of 1986 contains  provis ions  which l imit the abi l i ty to u,l ise the net opera,ng loss  carry
forwards  in the case of certain events  including s ignificant changes  in ownership interests . I f the Group's  net
opera,ng loss  carried forward, the Group would incur a  federal  income tax l iabi l i ty even though net opera,ng
loss  carry forwards  would be avai lable in future years .
 
The Group has  tax losses  carried forward of US$47,297,438 (2021: US$33,391,842). The unu,l ised tax losses  have
not been recognised as  a  deferred tax asset due to uncertainty over the ,ming of future profits  and gains . I n
addi,on, there are approximately US$726,000 (2021: US$531,000) of unrecognised deferred tax assets  in respect
of the share-based payment.
 
11.  Property, plant and equipment
 

Leasehold
improvements

US$

 Furniture and
equipment

US$

 Computers and
IT equipment

US$

 
Total

US$
Cost
At 1 January 2021 13,658 440,790 59,273 513,721
Additions 17,050          464,585            59,819 541,454
Disposals - - (1,328) (1,328)
At 31 December 2021 30,708 905,375 117,764 1,053,847
Additions 3,500 52,470 7,976 63,946
Disposals - - (5,298) (5,298)
At 31 December 2022 34,208 957,845 120,442 1,112,495
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2021 6,068 213,012 23,377 242,457
Depreciation expense 7,934 146,656 22,759 177,349
Disposals - - (738) (738)
At 31 December 2021 14,002 359,668 45,398 419,068
Depreciation expense 5,864 237,778 33,819 277,461
Disposals - - (2,532) (2,532)
At 31 December 2022 19,866 597,446 76,685 693,997
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 16,706 545,707 72,366 634,779
At 31 December 2022 14,342 360,399 43,757 418,498

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.  Intangible assets

 Patents  Total
 US$  US$

Cost
At 1 January 2021 5,045,996 5,045,996
Additions - -
At 31 December 2021 5,045,996 5,045,996
Additions - -
At 31 December 2022 5,045,996 5,045,996
Accumulated amortisation
 At 1 January 2021 2,235,302 2,235,302
Amortisation expense 616,851 616,851
At 31 December 2021 2,852,153 2,852,153
Amortisation expense 612,252 612,252
At 31 December 2022 3,464,405 3,464,405
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 2,193,843 2,193,843
At 31 December 2022 1,581,591 1,581,591
 
 
13.  Investment in subsidiary undertaking
 

Company

Investment in
subsidiary

undertaking
US$

 

Amount due
from

subsidiary
undertaking

US$

 

 
 

Total
US$

Cost
At 31 December 2021 4,342,848 53,837,466 58,180,314
At 31 December 2022 4,342,848 54,019,443 58,362,291
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2021 4,342,848 53,837,466 58,180,314
At 31 December 2022 4,342,848 54,019,443 58,362,291

 
The investment in subs idiary undertaking is  s tated at cost less  provis ion for impairment. The amount due from



The investment in subs idiary undertaking is  s tated at cost less  provis ion for impairment. The amount due from
subsidiary undertaking are regarded as  net investment which is  subject to the impairment assessment whenever
events  or changes  in ci rcumstance indicate that the carrying value of the investment and the amount due from
subsidiary undertakings  may not be recoverable. For the year under review, there is  no such indicator for
impairment.
 
The net carrying amounts  noted above relates  to the Subs idiary. The subs idiary undertaking during the year were
as  fol lows:
 

 Registered office address
 

Country of
incorporation
 

Interest held
%
 

Polarean
Inc.

2500 Meridian Parkway #175,
Durham, NC 27713, USA

USA 100

 
 
 
14.  Trade and other receivables
 

                  Group                   Company
Amounts falling due after one year 2022

US$
 2021

US$
 2022

US$
 2021

US$
Rental  deposit 5,539 5,539 - -
Prepayments 432,000 - - -

437,539 5,539 - -

 

                  Group                   Company
Amounts falling due within one year 2022

US$
 2021

US$
 2022

US$
 2021

US$
Trade receivables 109,397 119,096 - -
Prepayments 1,550,252 851,872 68,258 22,410

1,659,649 970,968 68,258 22,410
 

Analysis of trade receivables based on age of invoices

< 30
$'000

 
 

31 - 60
$'000

61 -90
$'000

> 90
$'000

Total Gross
$'000

ECL
$'000

Total Net
$'000

2022 65,558 - - 43,839 109,397 - 109,397
2021 73,500 - 45,097 499 119,096 - 119,096
 
 
The Group appl ies  the I F RS 9 s impl ified approach to measuring expected credit losses  (EC L) which uses  a  l i fe,me
expected loss  a l lowance for a l l  trade receivables . The EC L balance has  been determined based on historical  data
avai lable to management in addi,on to forward looking informa,on u,l is ing management knowledge. The
Company appl ies  a  s imi lar approach to measuring ECL for the amounts  due from group undertakings.
 
Trade receivables  are amounts  due from customers  for goods sold or services  performed in the ordinary course of
bus iness . They are general ly due for seQlement within 30 days  and therefore are a l l  class ified as  current. The
majori ty of trade and other receivables  are non-interest bearing. W here the effect is  materia l , trade and other
receivables  are discounted us ing discount rates  which reflect the relevant costs  of financing. The carrying amount
of trade and other receivables  approximates  fa i r value.
 
15.  Inventory
 Group

 
2022

US$
 2021

US$
Finished Goods and Component parts 1,711,419 1,426,810
 
During the year ended 31 December 2022, a  total  of US$597,736 of inventories  was  included in the statement of
comprehensive income as  an expense (2021: US$624,507).
 
16.  Cash and cash equivalents
               Group                Company
 2022 

US$
 2021

US$
 2022

US$
 2021

US$
Cash at bank and in hand 16,454,241 28,874,908 1,716,189 2,454,491
 
17.  Share capital 
 
The issued share capital  of the Company was as  fol lows:
 
Allotted and called up - Ordinary
shares of 0.037p each

2022
No.  

2022
US$  

2021
No.  

2021
US$

At beginning of period 209,249,966 101,642 163,212,935 78,200
Issue of shares  upon warrant
exercise - - 928,089 474
Issue of shares  to investors - - 44,932,142 22,881
Issue of shares  upon option
exercise 3,797,543 1,821 176,800 87
At end of year 213,047,509 103,463 209,249,966 101,642
 



 
O n 24 February 2021, the Company issued 61,563 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share warrants  with
an exercise price of £0.15 each.
 
On 25 March 2021, the Company issued 358,713 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share warrants  with an
exercise price of £0.00037 each.
 
O n 31 March 2021, 7 Apri l  2021 and 8 Apri l  2021 the Company issued a total  of 44,932,142 new ordinary shares
of £0.00037 each in the capital  of the Company at the issue price of 60 pence per share in a  P lacing, Subscrip,on
and Open Offer for total  proceeds of £27 mi l l ion (before expenses).
 
O n 16 Apri l  2021, the Company issued 467,733 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share warrants  with an
exercise price of £0.00037 each.
 
O n 17 May 2021, the Company issued 40,080 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share warrants  with an
exercise price of £0.00037 each.
 
O n 23 November 2021, the Company issued 66,800 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share op,ons with
an exercise price of £0.025358 each.
 
O n 9 December 2021, the Company issued 110,000 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share op,ons with
an exercise price of £0.15 each.
 
O n 11 January 2022, the Company issued a total  of 133,600 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share
options  with an exercise price of £0.02478 each.
 
O n 11 January 2022, the Company issued a total  of 132,630 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share
options  with an exercise price of £0.15 each.
 
O n 01 February 2022, the Company issued a total  of 109,356 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share
options  with an exercise price of £0.15 each.
 
O n 05 Apri l  2022, the Company issued a total  of 2,057,440 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share
options  with an exercise price of £0.00313 each.
 
O n 05 Apri l  2022, the Company issued a total  of 93,520 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share op,ons
with an exercise price of £0.02571 each.
 
O n 06 Apri l  2022, the Company issued a total  of 267,200 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share op,ons
with an exercise price of £0.00314 each.
 
O n 20 Apri l  2022, the Company issued a total  of 260,169 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share op,ons
with an exercise price of £0.15 each.
 
O n 20 Apri l  2022, the Company issued a total  of 136,109 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share op,ons
with an exercise price of £0.23 each.
 
O n 22 July 2022, the Company issued a total  of 534,400 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share op,ons
with an exercise price of £0.15 each.
 
O n 27 July 2022, the Company issued a total  of 73,119 new ordinary shares  upon the exercise of share op,ons
with an exercise price of £0.15 each.
 
18.  Reserves
 
Share premium
Share premium represents  the excess  of subscrip,on amounts  for the issue of shares  over nominal  value of
shares  issued, less  any attributable share issue costs .
 
Group re-organisation reserve
The group re-organisation reserve arose on the transaction under which the Group acquired the Subs idiary by way
of a  group re-organisation.
 
Share based payment reserve
Cumula,ve fa ir value of op,ons charged to the consol idated income statement net of transfers  to the profit or
loss  reserve on exercised.
 
Accumulated losses
Includes  a l l  current and prior year retained profi ts  and losses .
 
Merger reserve
The balance on the merger reserve represents  the fa ir value of the cons idera,on given in excess  of the nominal
value of the ordinary shares  issued in an acquis i,on made by the issue of shares  where the transac,on qual ifies
for merger rel ief under the Companies  Act 2006.
 
19.  Share-based payments
 
Share options
The Company grants  share options  at i ts  discretion to Directors , management and employees. These are accounted
for as  equity seQled transac,ons. Should the op,ons remain unexercised aSer a  period of ten years  from the date
of grant the op,ons wi l l  expire unless  an extens ion is  agreed to by the board. O p,ons are exercisable at a  price
equal  to the Company's  quoted market price on the date of grant or an exercise price to be determined by the
board.
 
Detai ls  of share options  granted, exercised, lapsed and outstanding at the year-end are as  fol lows:
 
 

 Weighted  



 
 

Number of
share options

2022

 

Weighted
average

exercise price
(US$)
2022

 

 
Number
of share
options

2021

 

Weighted
average exercise

price (US$)
2021

Outstanding at beginning of year 24,443,312 0.50 16,884,322 0.19
Granted during the year 1,941,000 0.71 8,580,000 1.11
Exercised during the year (3,797,543) 0.07 (176,800) 0.14
Forfeited/lapsed during the year (3,202,198) 0.99 (844,210) 1.01
Outstanding at end of the year 19,384,571 0.51 24,443,312 0.50
Exercisable at end of the year 13,751,273 0.34 13,055,517 0.14

 
Date Granted No. of options Exercise price Vesting conditions
08 March 2022      70,000 52 pence Time-based1

13 Apri l  2022    500,000 55 pence Time-based1

04 May 2022    500,000 52 pence Time-based1

23 June 2022    246,000 48 pence Time-based1

25 August 2022    573,000 61 pence Time-based1

20 October 2022      52,000 49 pence Time-based1

 1,941,000   
 
 
1 25% of the op,ons shal l  vest on the one-year anniversary of the employee's  date of hire with the remaining 75%
vesting in equal  portions  over the 36 months  fol lowing the one-year anniversary of the employee's  date of hire.
 
The op,ons outstanding as  at 31 December 2022 have an exercise price in the range of US$0.0041 to US$1.19
(2021: US$0.0041 to US$1.19).
 
The fa ir value of op,ons granted during the year has  been calculated us ing the Black Scholes  model  which has
given rise to fa i r values  per share of between US$0.23 and US$0.47. This  i s  based on risk-free rates  of between
1.8% and 3.9%, volati l i ty of between 58% and 80% and expected l i fe of 4 years .
 
The Black Scholes  calcula,ons for the op,ons resulted in a  charge of US$1,205,247 (2021: US$1,814,882) which
has  been expensed in the year. The weighted average remaining contractual  l i fe of the share op,ons is  6.37 years
(2021: 6.85 years). The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for a l l  share op,ons exercised during
the period was US$0.75 (2021: $0.58). Al l  share options  are equity settled on exercise.
 
Share warrants
The Company grants  share warrants  at i ts  discre,on to Directors , management, employees, advisors  and lenders .
These are accounted for as  equity settled transactions. Terms of warrants  vary from agreement to agreement.
 
Detai ls  for the warrants  granted, exercised, lapsed and outstanding at the year-end are as  fol lows:
 
 
 

 
 

Number of
share options

2022

 

Weighted
average exercise

price (US$)
2022

 

 
Number
of share
options

2021

 

Weighted
average exercise

price (US$)
2021

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,054,129 0.01 3,994,165 0.09
Exercised during the year - - (928,089) 0.34
Forfeited/lapsed during the year - - (11,947) 0.34
Outstanding at end of the year 3,054,129 0.01 3,054,129 0.01
Exercisable at end of the year 3,054,129 0.01 3.054,129 0.01

 
The weighted average remaining contractual  l i fe of the share warrants  is  1.55 years  (2021: 2.55 years). The
weighted average share price at the date of exercise for a l l  share warrants  exercised during the period was US$ni l
(2021: US$0.68).
 
20.  Provision for contingent consideration
 

                  Group                   Company
 2022

US$
 2021

US$
 2022

US$
 2021

US$
Provis ion for contingent
consideration

316,000 316,000 - -

 
O n 19 December 2011, the Subs idiary entered into an agreement with a  third party to purchase various  assets ,
including patents , trademarks, a  l icense agreement and phys ical  inventory. As  cons idera,on for this  transac,on,
the Subs idiary agreed to pay 5 per cent. of gross  revenue on cl inical  sa les  of products  that are sold related to the
patents  purchased, for seven years  from the date of the commercial  sa le. As  of 31 December 2022, the fa ir value of
this  con,ngent cons idera,on was US$316,000 (2021: US$316,000). This  l iabi l i ty i s  valued based on a probabi l i ty
weighted expected return method us ing projected future cash flows. There were no s ignificant events  in the year
ended 31 December 2022 necess i ta,ng revis ion of the probabi l i ty weighted expected value of the con,ngent
consideration.
 
There was therefore US$Ni l  profit or loss  aris ing on revalua,on of con,ngent cons idera,on during the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: US$Ni l ).
 
21.  Deferred income
 



 

                  Group                   Company
 2022

US$
 2021

US$
 2022

US$
 2021

US$
Aris ing from service contracts
Balance brought forward 254,741 260,717 - -
Additions 69,809 77,603
Revenue taken in year (106,121) (83,579) - -
Balance carried forward 218,429 254,741 - -

Current 89,725 108,994 - -
Non-current 128,704 145,747 - -

218,429 254,741 - -
 

22.  Trade and other payables
 
 
                  Group                   Company
Amounts falling due within one
year

2022 
US$

 2021 
US$

 2022 
US$

 2021 
US$

Trade payables 597,363 405,953 45,861 40,887
Accruals  and other payables 1,381,638 1,325,161 114,767 65,129

1,979,001 1,731,114 160,628 106,016
 
                  Group                   Company
Amounts falling due after one
year

2022 
US$

 2021 
US$

 2022 
US$

 2021 
US$

Accruals  and other payables 360,000 - - -
 
Trade payables  principal ly comprise amounts  outstanding for trade purchases  and ongoing costs  and are
payable within 1 year.
 
The Directors  cons ider the carrying value of a l l  financial  l iabi l i ties  to be equivalent to their fa i r value.
 
23.  Changes in liabilities from financing activities
 
Group

 
 

1 January
2021

US$

 
Cash flows

US$

  Non-cash
changes

US$

 31 December
2021

US$
Lease l iabi l i ty 221,428 (143,170) 411,528 489,786
Total  l iabi l i ties  from financing
activi ties 221,428 (143,170) 411,528 489,786

 

 
 

1 January
2022

US$

 
Cash flows

US$

  Non-cash
changes

US$

 31 December
2022

US$
Lease l iabi l i ty 489,786 (154,710) 23,761 358,837
Total  l iabi l i ties  from financing
activi ties 489,786 (154,710) 23,761 358,837

 
24.  Leases
 
Nature of leasing activities
 
The group leases  proper,es  in the jurisdic,on in which i t operates  with a l l  lease payments  fixed over the lease
term.
 

2022  2021
No.  No.

Number of active leases 2 2
 
The Group discounts  the lease payments  us ing i ts  incremental  borrowing rate at the commencement
date of the lease. The weighted-average rate appl ied is  10%.
 
 
Right-of-use assets

 Land and
Buildings

 US$
At 1 January 2021 184,213
Additions 378,767
Amortisation expense (140,164)
At 31 December 2021 422,816

At 1 January 2022 422,816
Amortisation expense (148,528)
At 31 December 2022 274,288
 
 
Lease Liabilities

Land and



Land and
Bui ldings

US$
At 1 January 2021 221,428
Additions 390,427
Interest expense 21,101
Lease payments (143,170)
At 31 December 2021 489,786

At 1 January 2022 489,786
Interest expense 23,761
Lease payments (154,710)
At 31 December 2022 358,837
 
Analysis of lease liabilities
 
Maturi ty of the lease l iabi l i ties  i s  analysed as  fol lows:

2022  2021
US$  US$

Within 1 year 142,146 130,949
Later than 1 year and less  than 5 years 216,691 358,837

358,837 489,786
 
25.  Commitments
 
Royalty commitments
 
The Subs idiary has  entered into three agreements  requiring royalty payments . O ne agreement is  condi,onal  and
requires  a  payment of 5 per cent. of gross  revenue on cl inical  sa les  during the payment period beginning on the
date a  product is  first commercial ly sold, con,ngent on receiving F DA approval , and ending seven years  from that
date. A separate agreement requires  payments  of 0.25 per cent of net sales  of machines, and 20 per cent of any
subl icens ing income for a  specific method of use of patent beginning in 2016. Addi,onal ly, beginning five years
aSer the effec,ve date of 1 February 2021, there are minimum yearly royal,es  of US$5,000. The third agreement
requires  a  fixed payment of US$250,000 for use of patents .
 
26.  Financial instruments
 

The Group has  exposure to the fol lowing key risks  related to financial  instruments:
 

I.     Market risk
II.    Credit risk
III.   Liquidity risk

 
This  note presents  informa,on about the Group's  exposure to each of the above risks , the Group's  objec,ves,
pol icies  and processes  for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's  management of capital . Further
quanti tative disclosures  are included throughout these consol idated Financial  Statements .
 
The Group uses  financial  instruments  including cash, loans, as  wel l  as  trade receivables  and payables  that arise
directly from operations.
 
Due to the s imple nature of these financial  instruments , there is  no materia l  difference between book and fa ir
values, discoun,ng would not give a  materia l  difference to the results  of the Group and the Directors  bel ieve that
there are no materia l  sens itivi ties  that require additional  disclosure.
 

(a)          Credit risk
 

Credit risk refers  to the risk that a  counterparty wi l l  default on i ts  contractual  obl iga,ons resul,ng in financial
loss  to the Subs idiary. In order to minimise the risk, the Subs idiary endeavours  only to deal  with companies  which
are demonstrably creditworthy and this , together with the aggregate financial  exposure, i s  con,nuously
monitored. The maximum exposure to credit risk i s  the value of the outstanding amount. The Group cons iders  the
banks  and financial  ins,tu,ons have low credit risks . Therefore, the Group is  of the view that the loss  a l lowance
is  immateria l  and hence no provis ion is  required.
 
The Directors  do not cons ider that there is  any concentra,on of risk within ei ther trade or other receivables . There
are no impairments  to trade or other receivables  in each of the years  presented.
 
Categories of financial instruments
                  Group                   Company
Financial assets at measured at
amortised cost

2022
US$

 2021
US$

 2022
US$

 2021
US$

Cash and cash equivalents 16,454,241 28,874,908 1,716,189 2,454,491
Trade and other receivables  -
current

109,397 119,096 - -

Other receivables  - non-current 5,539 5,539 - -
Financial liabilities at measured at
amortised cost
Trade and other payables-
current 360,000 - - -

Other payables  - non-current 1,979,001 1,731,114 160,629 106,016
 
Capital risk management
 
The Group manages  i ts  capital  to ensure that i t wi l l  be able to con,nue as  a  going concern whi le maximis ing
returns  to shareholders  through the op,misa,on of capital  s tructure. The Group is  funded by equity. Equity
comprises  share capital , share premium, share-based payment reserves, group re-org reserves  and accumulated



comprises  share capital , share premium, share-based payment reserves, group re-org reserves  and accumulated
losses  and is  presented in the statement of financial  pos i,on. I n order to maintain or adjust the capital  s tructure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders , return capital  to shareholders  or i ssue new
shares.
 
The Group manages  the capital  s tructure and makes  adjustments  to i t in the l ight of changes  to economic
conditions  and risks .
 
(b)          Market risk

There is  no interest risk exposure to the group or the company. The Company made unsecured interest-free loans
to i ts  subs idiary and are expected to be repaid in the future as  the subs idiary is  revenue generative.
 
 
(c)          Liquidity risk

A maturi ty analys is  of the Group's  financial  l iabi l i ties  i s  shown below:

 
2022 Carrying

amounts
 Undiscounted

cash flow
 Less than a

year
 1-2 years  2-5 years

Trade and other
payables 2,339,001 2,339,001 1,979,001 240,000 120,000
Lease l iabi l i ties 358,837 384,435 158,135 150,248 76,052
 2,697,838 2,723,436 2,137,136 510,248 76,052
2021
Trade and other
payables 1,731,114 1,731,114 1,731,114 - -
Lease l iabi l i ties 489,786 539,145 154,710 158,135 226,300
 2,220,900 2,270,259 1,885,824 158,135 226,300
 
Capital risk management
 
As  highl ighted earl ier in these financial  s tatements , the presenta,on currency of the Group is  the US dol lar.  The
Group has  foreign currency denominated assets  and l iabi l i,es.  Exposure to exchange rate fluctua,ons therefore
arises . The Group pays  for invoices  denominated in a  foreign currency in the same currency as  the invoice and
therefore suffers  from a level  of foreign currency risk, but this  i s  immateria l . The Group did not enter into any
derivative financial  instruments  to manage i ts  exposure to foreign currency risk in the year.
 
The carrying amount of the Group's  foreign currency denominated monetary assets  and l iabi l i,es  at 31 December
2022 is  as  fol lows:
 

  2022  2021
  USD $  USD $

British pound sterling
Cash balances 1,716,189 2,454,491

1,716,189 2,454,491
 
At 31 December 2022, i f a l l  foreign currencies  in which the Group transacts  had strengthened or weakened by 10%
against the US dol lar with a l l  other variables  held constant, post-tax loss  for the would have been
increased/(decreased) by:
 

2022  2021
US$  US$

   
Strengthened by 10% - increase in post-tax loss 171,619  245,449
Weakened by 10% - decrease in post-tax loss (171,619) (245,449)
 
 
The rate of 10% is  the sens i,vity rate used when repor,ng foreign currency risk internal ly to key management
personnel  and represents  management's  assessment of the reasonable poss ible change in foreign exchange rates .
The sens i,vity analys is  includes  only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary i tems and adjusts
their trans la,on at year-end for a  10% change in foreign currency rates . A pos i,ve number above indicates  an
increase in loss  (increase in profit) or other equity where the US$ strengthens by 10% against the relevant
currency. For a  10% weakening of the US$ against the relevant currency, there would be an equal  and opposite
impact on the profi t or loss  and other equity.
 
27.  Contingent liabilities
 
The Directors  are not aware of any materia l  con,ngent l iabi l i,es , except for the con,ngent cons idera,on detai led
in note 20.
 
28.  Related party transactions
 
Remuneration of the key management personnel  has  been disclosed in Note 5.
 
29.  Events after the reporting period
 
Between 1 January 2023 and 20 Apri l  2023, the Company granted op,ons over a  total  of 325,000 ordinary shares
of £0.00037 each in the capital  of the Company to three new employees. The op,ons vest over a  four-year period
and have an exercise price equal  to the clos ing price on the date of grant.
 
O n 17 Apri l  2023, the Company announced the appointment of Daniel  Brague, a  Non-Execu,ve Director of the
Company, as  a  consultant to the Company to provide strategic advice to the Company's  commercial  team. Under
the terms of the consultancy contract, the Company wi l l  pay Mr. Brague an hourly fee of $300. The fee is  capped at
$100,000 in total .



Notice of the Annual General Meeting
 

POLAREAN IMAGING PLC
 (Incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 with company number 10442853)

 
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

 
THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

 
If you are in any doubt as to what acCon you should take, you are recommended to seek your own financial
advice from your stockbroker or other independent adviser authorised under the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000.
 
If you have recently sold or transferred all of your shares in Polarean Imaging plc, please forward this
document, together with the accompanying documents, as soon as possible either to the purchaser or
transferee or to the person who arranged the sale or transfer so they can pass these documents to the person
who now holds the shares.
 
I t i s  intended that the Annual  General  Mee,ng (the "AGM") of Polarean I maging plc (the "Company") wi l l  be
held at the Company's  office at 2500 Meridian Parkway, Suite 175, Durham, NC 27713 USA at 2:00 p.m. BST
(9:00 a.m. EST) on 28 June 2023. The Company understand and recognises  the importance of the AGM and the
Board greatly values  the opportunity to meet shareholders  in person. However, we understand that this  may
not be poss ible or des irable for a l l  whom wish to aQend, therefore, the Company wi l l  offer shareholders  the
op,on to par,cipate in the AGM remotely via  a  Zoom conference cal l . I f you wish to use this  faci l i ty, please
contact the Company' investors  rela,ons firm, Walbrook P ubl ic Rela,ons, by emai l ing
polarean@walbrookpr.com who wi l l  provide further informa,on. However, shareholders  wi l l  not be able to
vote at the mee,ng when joining via  the Zoom conference cal l . Shareholders  are therefore asked, whether or
not they propose to aQend the AGM, to exercise their votes  and appoint the Chairman of the AGM as  their
proxy by comple,ng the form of proxy sent to them with this  document and return i t to the Company's
registrars  as  soon as  poss ible. They must receive i t by 2:00 p.m. BST (9:00 a.m. EST) on 26 June 2023 (or, in
circumstances  where the AGM is  adjourned to a  date later than 48 hours  aSer the ,me specified for the
Meeting, 48 hours  before the time of the adjourned meeting, excluding any UK non-working days).
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Polarean Imaging plc (the "Company") will be held
at the Company's office at 2500 Meridian Parkway, Suite 175, Durham, N C 27713 USA at 2:00 p.m. BST (9:00
a.m. EST) on 28 June 2023 for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, transacting the following business:
 
ORDINARY BUSINESS

To cons ider and, i f thought fi t, pass  the fol lowing resolutions  which wi l l  be proposed as  ordinary resolutions:
 

1.     To receive and cons ider the Company's  audited accounts  for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the Directors ' of the Company (the "Director(s)") and auditors ' reports  thereon.

2 .     To cons ider and approve the remunera,on report as  detai led in the Company's  annual  report and
accounts .

3 .     To re-appoint Crowe UK  LLP  as  auditor of the Company (the "Auditor") to hold office un,l  the
conclus ion of the next general  mee,ng at which accounts  are la id and to authorise the Directors  to
fix the Auditor's  remuneration.

4 .     To re-elect Marcel la  Ruddy as  a  Director, who re,res  in accordance with ar,cle 78 of the Ar,cles ,
and who, being el igible, offers  hersel f for re-election.

5.     To re-elect Juergen Laucht as  a  Director, who re,res  in accordance with ar,cle 78 of the Ar,cles , and
who, being el igible, offers  himself for re-election.

6 .     To re-elect Cyri l le Pe,t as  a  Director, who re,res  in accordance with ar,cle 83 of the Ar,cles , and
who, being el igible, offers  himself for re-election.

7.     To approve the amendments  to the rules  of the Polarean I maging plc Share O p,on P lan (the "P lan")
as  further described on page 19 of the Annual  Report and to authorise the Directors  to do al l  such
other acts  and things  they may cons ider appropriate to implement the amended plan.

8 .     To general ly and uncondi,onal ly authorise the Directors  for the purpose of sec,on 551 of the
Companies  Act 2006 (the "Act"), in subs,tu,on for a l l  exis,ng authori,es  to the extent unused, to
exercise a l l  the powers  of the Company to a l lot or grant rights  to subscribe for or to convert any
securi ty into shares  in the Company:
 
a) up to 10,000,000 ordinary shares  of £0.00037 each ("Ordinary Shares") in respect of the Plan; and
b) otherwise than pursuant to paragraph (a) above, up to 31,957,126 O rdinary Shares  (being 15 per
cent. of the total  number of Ordinary Shares  in issue as  at the date of this  notice),
 
provided that this  authori ty shal l  expire on the earl ier of 15 months  aSer the date of pass ing of this
resolu,on or the conclus ion of the annual  general  mee,ng of the Company next fol lowing the
pass ing of this  resolu,on, save that the Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or
agreement which would or might require shares  or equity securi,es, as  the case may be, to be
al loQed or such rights  granted aSer such expiry and the Directors  may al lot shares  or equity
securi,es  or grant such rights , as  the case may be, in pursuance of such offer or agreement
notwithstanding that the authori ty conferred by this  resolution has  expired.
 

SPECIAL BUSINESS
 
To cons ider and, i f thought fi t, pass  the fol lowing resolution as  a  specia l  resolution:
 

9 .     Subject to the pass ing of resolu,on 8 above, to empower the Directors , pursuant to the general
authori ty conferred on them and sec,on 570 of the Act, to a l lot equity securi,es  (within the meaning



authori ty conferred on them and sec,on 570 of the Act, to a l lot equity securi,es  (within the meaning
of sec,on 560 of the Act) for cash as  i f sec,on 561 of the Act did not apply to any such al lotment,
provided that this  power shal l  be l imited to the al lotment of equity securi ties :
 
a) made in connec,on with an offer of securi,es, open for acceptance for a  fixed period, to holders
of O rdinary Shares  of the Company on the register on a fixed record date in propor,on (as  nearly as
may be) to their then holdings  of such O rdinary Shares  (but subject to such exclus ions  or other
arrangements  as  the Directors  may deem necessary or expedient to deal  with any legal  or prac,cal
problems under the laws or requirements  of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange
in any overseas  terri tory or in connection with fractional  enti tlements); and/or
b) whol ly for cash (otherwise than pursuant to paragraph 9(a) above) up to an aggregate number of
31,957,126 Ordinary Shares.
 
This  authori ty shal l  expire on the earl ier of 15 months  aSer the date of pass ing of this  resolu,on
and the conclus ion of the annual  general  mee,ng of the Company next fol lowing the pass ing of this
resolu,on but the Company may, before such expiry, make an offer or agreement which would or
might require shares  or equity securi,es, as  the case may be, to be al loQed or such rights  granted
aSer such expiry and the Directors  may al lot shares  or equity securi,es  or grant such rights , as  the
case may be, in pursuance of such an offer or agreement notwithstanding that the power conferred
by this  resolution has  expired.

 
 
 
By Order of the Board
 
Stephen Austin
Company Secretary
25 May 2023

 
Registered Office:

27-28 Eastcastle Street
London

W1Q 8DH

 
NOTES
 

A shareholder en,tled to aQend and vote at the mee,ng convened by this  no,ce is  en,tled to appoint
one or more proxies  to exercise a l l  or any of their rights  to aQend, speak and vote on their behal f at the
AGM. A proxy need not be a shareholder.
 

(1)          Arrangements for the meeting

 

Shareholders  who wish to aQend the AGM in person should arrive at the venue in good ,me to a l low
their aQendance to be registered. Shareholders  who wish to par,cipate in the mee,ng remotely via  the
Zoom conference cal l  should contact the Company's  investor rela,ons firm, Walbrook P ubl ic Rela,ons,
by emai l ing polarean@walbrookpr.com who wi l l  provide further informa,on. However, Shareholders
wi l l  not be able to vote at the meeting when joining via  the Zoom conference cal l . The Board:

 

·    encourages  Shareholders  to submit their votes  by proxy as  early as  poss ible, and Shareholders
are encouraged to appoint the Chairman of the mee,ng as  their proxy. Al l  proxy appointments
should be received by no later than 2:00 p.m. BST on 26 June 2023;

·     strongly recommends C R EST members  to vote electronical ly through the C R EST electronic proxy
appointment service as  your vote wi l l  automa,cal ly be counted. I n addi,on, the Company has
also decided that proxy appointments  can also be submiQed by Shareholders  electronical ly
(even outs ide C R EST) by logging on to www.shareregistrars .uk.com, cl icking on the "P roxy Vote"
buQon and then fol lowing the on-screen instruc,ons (you can locate your log-in detai ls  on the
top of the proxy form). P lease contact Share Registrars  Limited contact number on +44 (0) 1252
821390 for any further guidance. Deal ing with paper proxies  requires  phys ical  interac,on
such as  post sorting and del ivery, evaluation and manual  input.

·     proposes  that vo,ng at the mee,ng wi l l  be conducted by means of a  pol l  on al l  resolu,ons,
with each Shareholder having one vote for each share held, thereby al lowing al l  those proxy
votes  submitted and received prior to the meeting to be counted; and

·    encourages  you to submit any ques,on that you would l ike to be answered at the mee,ng by
sending i t, together with your name as  shown on the Company's  register of members  and the
number of shares  held, to the fol lowing emai l  address: polarean@walbrookpr.com so that i t i s
received by no later than 2:00 p.m. BST on 26 June 2023. P lease insert "AGM - Shareholder
Q ues,ons" in the subject header box of your emai l . The Company wi l l  endeavour to respond to
al l  questions  received from Shareholders  at the AGM or within seven days  fol lowing the AGM.

 
( 2 )          To appoint a  proxy, shareholders  should use the form of proxy enclosed with this  no,ce of AGM.

P lease careful ly read the instruc,ons on how to complete the form of proxy. For a  proxy to be effec,ve,
the instrument appoin,ng a proxy together with the power of aQorney or such other authori ty (i f any)



the instrument appoin,ng a proxy together with the power of aQorney or such other authori ty (i f any)
under which i t i s  s igned or a  notarised cer,fied copy of the same must be deposited with the Company's
registrars , Share Registrars  Limited of 3 The Mi l lennium Centre, Crosby Way, Farnham, Surrey, GU9 7X X ,
United K ingdom (the "Registrars") or shareholders  can submit their vote(s) by logging on to
www.shareregistrars .uk.com, cl icking on the "P roxy Vote" buQon and then fol lowing the on-screen
instruc,ons (you can locate your log-in detai ls  on the top of the proxy form) by 2:00 p.m. BST on 26 June
2023, or, i f the AGM is  adjourned, 48 hours  before the ,me fixed for the adjourned mee,ng (excluding
any part of a  day that i s  not a  bus iness  day). The comple,on and return of a  form of proxy does  not
preclude a shareholder from subsequently aQending and vo,ng at the AGM in person i f he or she so
wishes. I f a  shareholder has  appointed a proxy and aQends the AGM in person, such proxy appointment
wi l l  automatical ly be terminated.
 

( 3 )          P ursuant to Regula,on 41 of Uncer,ficated Securi,es  Regula,ons 2001, the Company specifies  that
only those shareholders  on the register of members  at 2:00 p.m. BST on 26 June 2023 or, i f the mee,ng
is  adjourned, 48 hours  before the ,me of the adjourned mee,ng (excluding any part of a  day that i s  not
a bus iness  day), shal l  be en,tled to aQend or vote at the AGM in respect of the number of ordinary
shares  of £0.00037 each (the "O rdinary Shares") registered in their name at that ,me. Changes  to the
register of members  aSer that ,me shal l  be disregarded in determining the rights  of any person to
attend or vote at the AGM.

 
 

(4)          Any Shareholder may insert the ful l  name of a  proxy or the ful l  names of two alterna,ve proxies  of the
Shareholder's  choice in the space provided with or without dele,ng 'the Chairman of the mee,ng.' A
proxy need not be a Shareholder but must aQend the mee,ng to represent the relevant Shareholder. The
person whose name appears  first on the Form of P roxy and has  not been deleted wi l l  be en,tled to act
as  proxy to the exclus ion of those whose names fol low. If this  proxy form is  s igned and returned with no
name inserted in the space provided for that purpose, the Chairman of the mee,ng wi l l  be deemed to be
the appointed proxy. W here a Shareholder appoints  as  his/her proxy someone other than the Chairman,
the relevant Shareholder is  responsible for ensuring that the proxy aQends the mee,ng and is  aware of
the Shareholder's  vo,ng inten,ons. Any al tera,on, dele,on or correc,on made in the Form of P roxy
must be ini tia l led by the s ignatory/ies .
 

(5)          A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy provided that each proxy is  appointed to exercise the
rights  aQached to a  different O rdinary Share or O rdinary Shares  held by that shareholder. A
shareholder may not appoint more than one proxy to exercise rights  aQached to any one O rdinary
Share. I f a  shareholder wishes  to appoint more than one proxy, they should contact the Registrars  on
01252 821390, +44 1252 821390 from overseas. Lines  are open from 9.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m. Monday to
Friday, excluding publ ic hol idays . Alterna,vely, you may write to the Registrars  at Share Registrars
Limited, 3 The Mi l lennium Centre, Crosby Way, Farnham, Surrey, GU9 7X X , United K ingdom for
additional  proxy forms and for ass istance.

 

( 6 )      Any corpora,on which is  a  shareholder can appoint one or more corporate representa,ves  who may
exercise on i ts  behal f a l l  of i ts  powers  as  a  shareholder provided that they do not do so in rela,on to
the same Ordinary Share.

 

(7)          As  at the close of bus iness  on the date immediately preceding this  no,ce, the Company's  i ssued share
capital  comprised 213,047,509 O rdinary Shares. Each O rdinary Share carries  the right to vote at the
AGM and, therefore, the total  number of vo,ng rights  in the Company as  at close of bus iness  on the date
immediately preceding this  notice is  213,047,509.

 

( 8 )          A shareholder's  instruc,ons to the proxy must be indicated in the appropriate space provided. To
abstain from vo,ng on a resolu,on, select the relevant 'Vote withheld' box. A vote withheld is  not a  vote
in law, which means that the vote wi l l  not be counted in the calcula,on of votes  for or against the
resolu,on. I f no vo,ng indica,on is  given, your proxy wi l l  vote or abstain from vo,ng at his  or her
discre,on. Your proxy wi l l  vote (or abstain from vo,ng) as  he or she thinks  fit in rela,on to any other
matter which is  put before the meeting.

 

 

( 9 )          This  form of proxy must be s igned by the appointor, or his  aQorney duly authorised in wri,ng. The
power of aQorney or other authori ty (i f any) under which the form of proxy is  s igned, or a  notarised
cer,fied copy of the power or authori ty, must be received by the Registrars  with the form of proxy. I f the
appointor is  a  corpora,on, the form of proxy should be s igned on i ts  behal f by an aQorney or duly
authorised officer or executed as  a  deed or executed under common seal . I n the case of joint holders ,
the s ignature of any one of them wi l l  suffice, but the names of a l l  joint holders  should be stated.

 

( 1 0 )        C R EST members  who wish to appoint a  proxy or proxies  through the C R EST Electronic P roxy
Appointment Service may do so for the AGM to be held at 2:00 p.m. BST on 28 June 2023 and any
adjournment(s) thereof by fol lowing the procedures  described in the C R EST manual . Al l  messages
rela,ng to the appointment of a  proxy or an instruc,on to a  previous ly appointed proxy, which are to
be transmiQed through C R EST, must be received by the Registrars  (I D  7R A36) no later than 2:00 p.m. BST
on 26 June 2023, or, i f the AGM is  adjourned, 48 hours  before the ,me fixed for the adjourned mee,ng
(excluding any part of a  day that i s  not a  bus iness  day).

 

(11)       I n order to revoke a proxy instruc,on, you wi l l  need to inform the Company by sending a  s igned hard
copy no,ce clearly sta,ng your inten,on to revoke your proxy appointment to the Registrars . I n the
case of a  shareholder which is  a  company, the revoca,on no,ce must be executed in accordance with
note 12 below. Any power of aQorney or any other authori ty under which the revoca,on no,ce is  s igned
(or a  duly cer,fied copy of such power or authori ty) must be included with the revoca,on no,ce and
must be received by the Registrars  not less  than 48 hours  (excluding any part of a  day that i s  not a
bus iness  day) before the ,me fixed for the holding of the AGM or any adjourned mee,ng (or in the case
of a  pol l  before the ,me appointed for taking the pol l ) at which the proxy is  to aQend, speak and to vote.



of a  pol l  before the ,me appointed for taking the pol l ) at which the proxy is  to aQend, speak and to vote.
I f you aQempt to revoke your proxy appointment but the revoca,on is  received aSer the ,me specified
then, subject to the paragraph directly below, your proxy appointment wi l l  remain val id.

 

(12)         A corpora,on's  form of proxy must be executed under ei ther i ts  common seal , i f any, or under the hand
of a  duly authorised officer or aQorney, in each case as  required under the laws of i ts  relevant
jurisdiction.
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